



Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development

> ALCOHOL & MARIJUANA CONTROL OFFICE 550 West 7<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Suite 1600 Anchorage, AK 99501 Main: 907.269.0350

# MEMORANDUM

TO: Marijuana Control Board

DATE: January 24, 2018

FROM: Erika McConnell, Director

RE: Rosie Creek Farm #10005 Standard Cultivation Facility

This cultivation facility licensee, located in Fairbanks, requested to transfer eight harvest batches with failed tests for Aspergillus fumigatus to a product manufacturer to make a carbon dioxide- or solvent-based extract, in accordance with 3 AAC 306.660(c).

I have recently come to learn that Aspergillus spores are not killed by solvents during the extraction process, and that inhaling such spores can be extremely hazardous for humans, particularly those who are immunocompromised. I attach a report from the Cannabis Safety Institute and refer you in particular to the section on Aspergillus that begins at the bottom of page 20. Considering the likelihood of immunocompromised persons to be consuming marijuana, I do not think the risk of even one death from pulmonary aspergillosis is acceptable.

Since researching a variety of sources and learning this information, I have not approved the transfer of any harvests that have failed for Aspergillus to a product manufacturer. I encourage the board to consider the emergency regulations proposal outlined in my director's report. If concentrates were tested for aspergillus, I would feel comfortable permitting the transfer of failed harvest batches to product manufacturers under 3 AAC 306.660(c) as not posing an unacceptable risk to public health.

Rosie Creek Farm has appealed my denial of the transfer of their harvest batches, in accordance with 3 AAC 306.845(a). Absent an emergency regulation to require concentrate to be tested for Aspergillus, I encourage the board to deny the appeal.

# **Microbiological Safety Testing of Cannabis**

Cannabis Safety Institute May 2015

## **Authors and Reviewers**

Mowgli Holmes, PhD<sup>1</sup> Jatin M. Vyas, MD, PhD<sup>2</sup> William Steinbach, MD<sup>3</sup> John McPartland, MD<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Phylos Bioscience <sup>2</sup>Harvard Medical School <sup>3</sup>Duke University <sup>4</sup>University of Vermont

All rights reserved, Cannabis Safety Institute, 2015

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	3
Existing guidelines	4
Microbiological Growth Conditions	7
Cannabis Production and Use	9
Risk categories	13
Bacterial Pathogens	15
Fungal Pathogens	20
Microbial Toxins	23
Indicator Tests	26
Recommendations	29
Summary of Recommendations	35
References	36

## Introduction

Cannabis is increasingly becoming legal at the state level in the U.S., for either medical or recreational use. Each of these states has had to wrestle with the question of how to ensure the safety of a new product that is not covered under any existing safety guidelines. Safety testing in other agricultural industries is regulated by the FDA, the USDA, or by other federal agencies, all of which have been unable to assist the states in this case. The few states that have produced safety testing guidelines for Cannabis were forced to develop them from scratch, without the regulatory and scientific support that federal agencies typically provide.

In the absence of this federal guidance, regulators in each state have turned to different sources for information, and each state has produced a unique set of rules and regulations (if they have produced one at all). Many of these are in outright conflict with each other, and they are largely not grounded on scientific research. This whitepaper is focused entirely on the question of microbiological safety, and has been written in order to promote the adoption of regulatory guidelines for the Cannabis industry that are rational, consistent, and safe. We have gathered what data there are on this issue and related ones, and assembled a broad collection of experts on the general subjects of plant microbiology, medical microbiology, and safety-testing of agricultural and food products.

One reason for the difficulty that the states have had with this issue is the unusual delivery route of Cannabis. If Cannabis were not typically consumed by smoking, it would fall more clearly under existing guidelines covering pharmaceuticals or agricultural products. The only potential source of safety regulations pertaining to plant material consumed by inhalation would be the tobacco industry. However, that industry does not publish such information, and has only very recently been subject to any federal oversight at all. Regardless, the appropriate guidelines for this industry will need to take the delivery route into account very clearly. Inhalation presents a different set of health threats than does (for instance) oral ingestion.

The experiences of other industries supply a vast collection of both data and regulatory approaches from which to draw upon. Nonetheless, this industry is unique, and it will be impossible to develop the right regulatory approach without careful customization of the approaches used in other settings. The potential problems associated with a massive industry, arising practically overnight, argue for stronger controls than are in place elsewhere. On the other hand, safety-testing guidelines that are too strict, economically unfeasible, or based on poor science, will be difficult to implement and will have a damaging effect on the industry as a whole.

Our approach in this white paper is try to balance these needs by giving recommendations that will exceed the public health protections in other industries, but not by more than is reasonable or necessary. More specifically, our approach has been to attempt to determine which microorganisms are likely to be present on Cannabis; which of them could potentially replicate to significant levels at any point in the production or use process; and which of these might actually pose a health hazard. We will recommend against testing for any organisms that do not meet these criteria.

## **Existing guidelines**

Both Colorado and Washington require Cannabis to be tested for microbiological contamination. However, they have instituted very divergent rules for how to implement such testing. Washington State produced a set of guidelines based on recommendations in the American Herbal Pharmacopoeia's Cannabis Monograph<sup>1</sup>. These, in turn, were drawn largely from guidelines specified by the American Herbal Products Association (AHPA). Colorado included a list of microbiology testing requirements in the actual legislation establishing the legal Cannabis industry in that state. These included a list of microorganisms that testing would be required for, and this list was clearly drawn from the small existing literature on Cannabis microbiology. The initial Cannabis microbiology testing requirements for both of these states were as follows.

#### Washington

Total Viable Aerobic Bacteria Count Total Yeast and Mold Count Bile-tolerant Gram-Negative Bacteria total coliforms count *E. Coli* (pathogenic strains) *Salmonella* spp. < 100,000 CFU < 10,000 CFU < 1000 CFU < 1000 CFU not detected in one gram not detected in one gram

#### Colorado

E. Coli
Salmonella
Gram-Negative bacteria
Aspergillus
Penicillium
Mucor
Thermophilic Actinomycetes

none detected none detected < 10,000 CFU none detected none detected none detected none detected

The AHPA guidelines, from which the Washington State requirements are drawn, specify a list of tests that are typical microbiology guidelines in some food products industries. They predate much of our modern scientific knowledge, and are based primarily around the use of testing techniques that existed at the time rather than actual data about relevant pathogens. The limits specified in this case were set based on surveys of the AHPA membership, and are thought to reflect actual knowledge about what levels are common for dried herbal products in general (Magad Sharaf, AHPA Standards Committee, personal communication). These limits therefore represent averages across many hundreds of different types of plant products. The number of total viable microorganisms can commonly vary by a factor of many thousands between plant types and across seasons and growing conditions.

Most importantly, as with all food-safety guidelines for agricultural products in this country, these were generally not intended as a testing protocol for each lot or batch of a product. Most existing approaches to food safety do not mandate testing of end products. Instead, except in cases of immediate public-health threats, they require testing and certification of production facilities and processes, even if this is accomplished in part by sampling of final products. This approach leads to a different set of recommendations for testing. It favors broad quality-indicator tests, and can reasonably include tests for organisms that have no special likelihood of being present. The AHPA guidelines are industry-specific self-regulatory guidelines, and as with similar lists in different industries, they were originally developed to represent average target levels. They were not intended as pass/fail criteria to be applied to each lot of product, and no regulatory body in this country requires that they be applied in such a way.

There are various reasons for requiring "indicator tests" that don't directly test for pathogens, but instead serve as "quality tests", or indications that follow-up pathogen testing should be performed<sup>2-4</sup>.

Chief among these are their utility in monitoring production processes themselves. They are less useful, and much less utilized, in the case of end-product testing. The Washington State microbiology guidelines include four separate indicator tests. One of these (total coliforms) is no longer considered the best test in its category<sup>5,6</sup>; another (biletolerant gram-negative bacteria) is so outdated that most of the authors of this white paper were unfamiliar with its use in safety testing. In fact, in some documents it is listed as being functionally identical to indicator tests for "total coliforms". Total coliforms is another indicator test also present on the Washington state list. Indicator tests will be discussed in more detail below, but in the case that such tests are required, we recommend that they be kept to a minimum, and used only in cases where they will provide actionable information.

The initial Colorado regulations are guite different than the Washington state ones. The list of mold species, in particular, appears to originate with a series of papers on Cannabis microbiology published by one of the co-authors of the present white paper (JW McPartland)<sup>7-10</sup>. They are all molds that have been isolated at one time or another from Cannabis plants. However, spores of these species are ubiquitous, and they were mentioned in these publications in the context of experimental studies that assessed or replicated poor storage conditions. Studies of contaminants of marijuana in the 1970s and 1980s primarily investigated cannabis smuggled from Latin America. Their relevance to current, domestically-produced cannabis is very limited. The product was sweat-cured, then compressed into bricks for smugaling, under conditions not controlled for temperature or humidity. These conditions gave rise to "storage molds" that are easily discernable and frankly unacceptable by today's consumers. Some organisms reported in these studies, such as *Mucor sp.*, thermophilic actinomycetes, and Dienerella arga, indicated a highly deteriorated condition.

In another study that identified several of these mold species on Cannabis<sup>11</sup>, the authors analyzed street samples submitted by cannabis smokers, and isolated *Aspergillus, Mucor*, and *Penicillium* species. The Cannabis in this study, as well, was likely smuggled into the country under inappropriate storage conditions. The study used nonselective culture media, which actually selects for the growth of fast-growing and ubiquitous fungi such as the *Mucor* and *Penicillium* species that were found. No quantification of these molds was provided, and allergy testing of each of the Cannabis smokers with *Mucor* and *Penicillium* antigens showed no greater sensitization

amongst smokers than control subjects.

At least one of these molds (Aspergillus) is a genus that does indeed contain species that are a health threat likely to be present on Cannabis. Aspergillus is ubiguitous in soil and on many plants, which means that the initial requirement in Colorado that there be "none detected" on Cannabis is not feasible. On the other hand, there are hundreds of Aspergillus species, and very few of these cause human disease, so a general test for *Aspergillus* is inappropriate. Another problem with requiring tests for these molds is that there is no adequate existing test that is specific to them. There is no selective media or commercial plate available that allows only these species to grow and be guantitated. Molecular methods have been developed for some of these species, but have not been generally commercialized. Non-commercial plate-culture methods do exist, but these require a trained mycologist to identify the mold species by eye in the presence of many different types of mold. Colorado has since modified its list of required microbiological tests, but it remains to be seen how they will approach many of these issues.

## **Microbiological growth conditions**

In general, microorganisms can cause disease in two distinct ways. The first is through active infection: high-level replication in the host can lead to structural damage, toxicity, and dangerous hyperactivation of the immune system. The second is due to the fact that certain species of bacteria and fungi can produce toxins which can be ingested and cause disease even in the absence of viable bacterial or fungal cells. Toxin production itself requires robust replication; so although this disease mechanism does not require that microbial cells be alive or healthy at the point of ingestion, it does require that they were able to thrive on the food matrix at some prior point. It also requires that there be no processing step that removes or inactivates the toxin.

Likewise, active infection in the host typically requires high-level replication on the vector itself. This is because most infections are cannot be initiated without a large starting inoculum. Certain organisms are exceptions to this rule, and can initiate infections with extremely small doses – sometimes as little as a single cell or spore. Even these types of organisms (just as with toxins themselves) must of course also be able to survive any processing step that would kill them. In short, many infections can be prevented by avoiding high-level replication that would lead to large infectious doses of viable cells, or to large doses of toxins. Many infections can be prevented by steps that kill or inactivate microbial cells or microbial toxins. If robust replication is blocked, and "kill steps" are implemented, then the only possible type of infection is by organisms that can survive existing kill step conditions and initiate infection with minute doses.

Both bacteria and fungi (i.e., mold) need permissive conditions in order to replicate and present a health hazard. They need a surface or matrix that they have evolved to colonize effectively. They need adequate nutrients, adequate available water, and specific temperature ranges. Because temperature and water requirements are the most critical for microbial growth, the most common steps that result in the killing of microorganisms on food products are heating and drying. Many food products are cooked in some way, and because high temperatures kill bacteria and fungi these foods are generally not a safety threat unless they are mishandled after the cooking process.

Bacteria and fungi also have very specific water requirements. Many plant-based foods have high moisture content and are able to support robust microbial replication. These pose a danger if they are not cooked properly. Modern microbiology safety standards take this into account. However, the potential for microbial growth is a function of "water activity" ( $A_w$ ), and not of moisture content itself.<sup>12,13</sup>. Water activity is a measure of the available water that can be utilized for microbiological growth. It increases with moisture content, but it does so non-linearly, and in a manner that is unique to each material or matrix. High-moisture foods with high salt or sugar content can have quite low water activity, because the solute concentrations cause a majority of the water to be functionally unavailable. Water activity ranges from 0 to 1, and below  $A_w$  0.6 no growth can occur. Most pathogens cannot grow below  $A_w$  0.61<sup>14</sup>.

The potential for plant-born infection depends on the temperature, water activity, and transmission-route parameters that characterize the particular product. For instance, smoked plant material is heated to high temperatures that will kill normal cells, but it can still deliver heat-resistant spores to the lungs. Edible food products are usually heated, but if they are not heated they can deliver bacteria to the stomach where certain species can replicate. The section below follows the Cannabis plant through the stages of growth, processing, and use, in order to clarify what microbiological threats are possible at each stage.

## **Cannabis production and use**

Cannabis can be grown in several different environments, processed in many different ways, and utilized or ingested by multiple routes. Each of these pathways come with their own set of microbiological risks and protection factors. Looking at these closely makes it relatively clear what kind of safety tests should be performed on finished products prior to use. It also makes it clear that most safety concerns are best addressed in the course of the actual production process itself.

## Plant growth

Cannabis is grown under many different conditions, both indoors and outdoors. As with all agricultural products, it is exposed to an extremely wide range of microorganisms. However, the cannabinoids produced by the external glands of the plant have very well-documented antibacterial properties<sup>15-21</sup>. Living Cannabis plants do not support high levels of bacterial growth, and pathogenic bacteria are unlikely to be associated with living Cannabis plants. There is also some evidence for anti-fungal activity of certain cannabinoids<sup>20</sup>, but fungal growth is not at all uncommon on Cannabis plants. Most of these mold and mildew species are plant pathogens, and not human ones; molds such as *Botrytis cinerea* may harm the Cannabis plant, but they are unlikely to harm humans.

Nonetheless, mold is perhaps the single most important quality issue in Cannabis production. Outdoor plants are exposed to a wide variety of fungal species. Indoor plants are exposed to less of these, and can potentially be kept cleaner. In practice, however, many indoor plants are exposed to inappropriate watering, humidity, fertilizer, or ventilation conditions. All of these can contribute to very high levels of mold.

Even under ideal conditions, it is possible that small numbers of cells or spores capable of causing human disease may be present on plant material from contact with air, soil, or water. If any of these species are capable of replicating aggressively either on dried plant material or upon contact with humans, they could theoretically prove to be a threat.

#### Processing.

Once plants are harvested they are trimmed, dried, and cured. These processes present significant opportunities for contamination. Harvesting and trimming are the stages at which there is the greatest level of human handling. Human pathogens can easily be transferred to the flower material at this stage. Workers should wash their hands frequently, and generally conform to the food safety rules that operate in commercial kitchens. Use of gloves during direct handling of the material should be mandatory.

Most Cannabis is dried and cured to a final water activity level of  $A_w$ 0.30 – 0.60 (unpublished data: OG Analytical, CannaSafe Analytics, AquaLab). This corresponds to moisture content values of between 2% and 13% [Fig.1]. Humidity and temperature need to be carefully controlled during this period in order to ensure that the moisture content of the plant material is lowered at a steady rate that balances the need to allow chlorophyll evaporation with the need to minimize



**Fig. 1. Cannabis moisture sorption isotherm.** Four independent isotherms were generated from unique samples of dried Cannabis flowers, and used as inputs to generate a generalized isotherm model for Cannabis. The curve shown represents average values; moisture content at A<sub>W</sub> 0.65 will typically correspond to moisture content within two percentage points of 14%. Data was generated by AquaLab and CannaSafe Analytics using an AquaLab Vapor Sorption Analyzer.

overall moisture. If moisture levels are too high during this period, both mold and bacterial levels will rise above acceptable levels. If the drying process is done correctly, it kills the majority of the microorganisms that are present. Certain types of bacteria and fungi, however, are quite resistant to drying; even though they cannot grow at low water activity levels, they remain viable and can grow if conditions change.

Once cured, flower material can be smoked or inhaled by vaporization, but it is also frequently used to make extracts or concentrates that can themselves be smoked or vaporized, or added to products intended for oral ingestion. These edible products are extremely varied, but they typically all rely on the addition of a plant extract containing active cannabinoids. Simple approaches to extraction of these use butter or oil in which plant material is heated. The plant material is then removed and the butter or oil can be used for cooking. More complex methods use butane, hexane, CO<sub>2</sub>, or other compounds as extraction solvents. These methods are becoming extremely popular, and they are now the prevalent form in which marijuana is used for the manufacture of edible products. They often utilize extremes of temperature and pressure, and they are unlikely to allow microbes to survive.

If the end product of the extraction process is intended for use as a food additive in Cannabis products, it is often subjected to an independent heating step. THC is found in plants in the acid form (THC-A), and is not psychoactive until it is converted through heating into decarboxylated THC<sup>23,24</sup>. The medicinally important (but nonpsychoactive) cannabinoid CBD is likewise converted by heat from the CBD-A found in plants. This decarboxylation step is essentially a heatkill step, and it contributes to the safety of Cannabis extracts and products made from them for the recreational market. The same decarboxylation process happens during smoking. In either case, the temperatures required are high enough to kill growing bacteria and fungi; however, they are not high enough to kill spores. Decarboxylation is a function of temperature and time, as shown in Fig. 2. Typical decarboxylation procedures use 120°C for 30min<sup>22</sup>. It is important to point out that decarboxylation is also a function of matrix viscosity and surface area. For instance, Cannabis extracts with high viscosity that are heated without stirring do not easily release the  $CO_2$ byproduct of decarboxylation. These can require much higher temperatures or many more hours of treatment than other Cannabis products do.



**Fig. 2. Decarboxylation of THC-A to form THC.** The curves shown indicate THC concentrations as a function of time, at various temperatures. THC values increase to their maximum as decarboxylation of THC-A into THC proceeds. They then begin to decrease as THC is converted into CBN (cannabinol). These data are from one particular matrix; many Cannabis extracts will have different dexarboxylation curves. Figure modified from Veress et al., (1990)<sup>26</sup>.

#### Use

Cannabis is now commonly used in many different forms and by many different routes of administration. The primary methods are smoking of plant material or extracts; vaporization of plant material or extracts; and oral ingestion of extracts or foods made with extracts. Smoking or vaporization both involve heating to a temperature that will kill all non-spore microbial cells. Vaporization is a method of inhalation that uses lower temperatures than smoking in order to release volatile cannabinoids without burning solid plant material itself, but even these temperatures (typically a minimum of 160°C) are higher than microbial cells can survive.

Many edible products are either heated or made with previously heated extracts. However, there is a growing trend toward the use of medicinal Cannabis preparations that are *not* activated by decarboxylation. Some products are made using typical extraction procedures but without the heating step; others are made by direct use of fresh or dried plant material in, for instance, blender-prepared shakes. Many medical marijuana patients report benefits from THC-A or CBD-A-containing products that they do not find with decarboxylated THC or CBD. Whether or not these medical benefits stem from THC-A, CBD-A, or other compounds, there is a potential advantage to patients, especially pediatric patients, if they can obtain them while avoiding intoxication from active THC. Fresh Cannabis products will have a different set of microbiological risks than cured and heated Cannabis will. Nonetheless, clear regulations should be developed for these uses as well. They are increasing in prevalence, and there is published data suggesting that THC-A has quite different immunomodulatory effects than THC does<sup>25</sup>.

Non-ingested cannabinoid preparations are now common, such as topical creams and even transdermal patches. These present less microbiological risk because the skin is an effective barrier to infection.

## **Risk categories**

Going through the stages of Cannabis growth, processing, and use makes it straightforward to identify the possible infection risks. Any danger would be due to a combination of factors across each of these stages. Pathogens would have to arrive on the plant during growing or processing, survive all processing and use steps, and then they – or their toxins – would have to be transferred to a human host in a way that allows them to cause disease.

Bacteria and fungi require moisture and medium-to-low temperatures for replication. The comparison with those agricultural products that are known to mediate infections is useful. Lettuce and Cantaloupe, for instance, are not known to have antibacterial properties, they are kept fresh and moist during processing, and they are ingested orally without any heating whatsoever. Still, infections from these sources remain quite rare, and individual events are extremely newsworthy. The rarity of these events is probably primarily due to the fact that human pathogens are not especially common on plants. Most lettuce or fruit-borne outbreaks of bacterial sickness have been due to human contamination of soil, or water, or processing surfaces.

Cannabis, in contrast, has inherent antibacterial properties, is dried well, and is usually then heated during processing or use. This makes it as safe as any agricultural product could possibly be. Nevertheless, these conditions don't rule out all microbial threats. These are the ones that remain:

\* Bacteria resistant to low water-activity. Pathogenic bacteria that are extremely resistant to drying could potentially live on Cannabis, and be transferred to humans or to other items and then to humans. They would not survive the heat of smoking or decarboxylation, but they could nonetheless be carried into homes and come into contact with hosts through their presence on Cannabis. The only organism of concern in this category is Salmonella.

\* *Fungal spores.* These are extraordinarily resistant to heat, and could survive the heat of smoking or decarboxylation. These are not known to cause disease through the oral route, but the spores of certain species in the genus *Aspergillus* can enter the lungs, germinate, and cause invasive lung disease in susceptible individuals.

\* *Bacterial spores.* In theory, these could pose a danger just as fungal spores might. Bacterial spores could survive on plant material or in infused edible products, and enter the lung or stomach. However, there are no such spores that pose a threat under the conditions Cannabis is subject to. This will be discussed below in the section dealing with *Clostridium Botulinum*.

\* *Toxins*. In theory, either bacterial or fungal toxins could be present on Cannabis because of the earlier presence of high levels of toxinproducing organisms. These could then be transferred to the lungs by smoking, or transferred into foods and delivered to the stomach. Alternatively, toxin-producing organisms could be present in food products and produce toxins there that remain a threat. We will deal with each of these possibilities below. In short, none of them are possible with Cannabis, because the conditions required for the high level of replication needed for toxin production are never available. In addition, the potential toxins of concern are all rapidly degraded rapidly by heat.

These are the categories that potential dangers could fall into. In the sections below we will cover each of the potential organisms or toxins that could mediate these threats. We have included only those that have plausible relevance, based on the public health histories of the food and agriculture industries. We know of no other microorganisms that should be of concern. Of course there are many other human pathogens we have not mentioned here, but they fall into the same categories as those that are safe or irrelevant.

## **Bacterial pathogens**

Below is a discussion of the bacteria that could potentially be of concern on Cannabis. It is not exhaustive, as there are millions of bacterial species, thousands of which can potentially be human pathogens. These are just the species that are known to cause disease transmitted to humans from food or plant material, or those that have already been identified growing on Cannabis.

#### Listeria monocytogenes

*Listeria* can cause severe infection if ingested<sup>26,27</sup> and cases of Listeriosis have primarily been associated with contaminated foods. Cannabis products that are not eaten are therefore not a threat, but all food products should be handled so as to minimize the risk of Listeriosis.

*Listeria* is capable of growing at refrigeration temperatures<sup>28-32</sup>. It also forms very robust biofilms<sup>33,34</sup>, so a common source of food contamination is work surfaces that have not been cleaned properly. Listeria is not dangerous in small amounts, and it is usually not dangerous in healthy people with no specific risk factors. It needs to be ingested in relatively high quantities to cause infection<sup>35,36-39</sup>, and those particularly at risk are infants, adults older than 50, pregnant woman, and those with compromised immune systems<sup>27,40-41</sup>.

*Listeria* cannot survive heating<sup>42-45</sup> and it requires high water activity levels in order to replicate<sup>46,47</sup>. Therefore dry products and heated or cooked products are all safe. *Listeria* will not grow on dried Cannabis flowers, and the decarboxylation process or the cooking process will kill any Listeria that may be present on Cannabis-infused food products. As with any food product, there is the danger for contamination after the cooking process and prior to consumption or packaging. Refrigeration does not remove this danger. It is critical that all producers of edible products follow good manufacturing practices, with special focus on keeping work-surfaces clean. High water activity foods that come into contact with unclean surfaces after cooking are at risk for Listeria. Low water activity foods are generally safe, and dried Cannabis is not at risk for *Listeria* contamination.

#### Escherischia coli

*E. coli* is a ubiquitous bacterial species that lives in the gut of many animals, including humans. It is generally not associated with disease, except for a subset of particular strains that produce a variety of toxins<sup>48,49</sup>. The most well-known of these is strain 0157:H7<sup>50-52</sup>. Outbreaks of this and other pathogenic *E. coli* strains<sup>53</sup> have typically been associated with contaminated meat products<sup>54-56</sup> or leafy greens<sup>57-59</sup>. Leafy green vegetables are a particular risk, as both soil and water can be contaminated with *E. coli* because of contact with fecal matter, and because these products are consumed raw. *E. coli* is killed by heating to temperatures higher than 160°F. Any meat, fruit, or vegetable product that is not cooked is a potential source of *E. coli* infection.

However, pathogenic toxin-producing strains are extremely rare<sup>60</sup>. In addition, they cannot grow at low water activity, or at refrigeration temperatures, and of course they are killed by high temperatures<sup>61-63</sup>. Therefore, a product such as Cannabis, that is both dried and then heated, is not a plausible vehicle for *E. coli* infection (Cannabis that is consumed fresh is an exception to this). Any food product may be infected with bacteria after cooking. If *E. coli* were to contaminate a Cannabis-infused food, it would be unlikely to have originated with the Cannabis. To be safe, all food products with high water activity should be kept refrigerated, and good hygiene practices should be followed by workers in production facilities.

Despite the fact that Cannabis is unlikely to present a special risk with regard to pathogenic *E. coli*, it is still possible that some amount of general non-pathogenic *E. coli* may be present, and this makes it potentially useful as an indicator test. Indicator tests will be discussed below.

## Salmonella

*Salmonella* is a genus of bacteria of which there are only two known species: *S. enterica*, and *S. bongori*. There are many sub-species, or serovars, of *S. enterica*, but in general all types of *Salmonella* are considered pathogenic<sup>64,65</sup>. *Salmonella* is unlikely to be present on modern well-maintained Cannabis crops. It is also killed effectively by the temperatures of smoking or decarboxylation<sup>66,67</sup>. In addition, *Salmonella* is an intestinal pathogen, so the real danger of *Salmonella* 

infection is always associated with ingestion of food products. For these to carry *Salmonella* that was originally associated with Cannabis, the *Salmonella* would have to survive both the extraction process and the heat of decarboxylation. Cannabis is no more likely than any other ingredient to serve as a vector for the introduction of *Salmonella* into a particular food product or a kitchen. If standard food safety guidelines are followed in kitchens producing Cannabis edibles, the vast majority of *Salmonella* infections can be avoided.

All of these factors taken together indicate that *Salmonella* is unlikely to be a problem on Cannabis. Nonetheless, *Salmonella* is unique in a number of ways that make it impossible to rule out as an issue. The first is that *Salmonella* is unusual in its ability to survive at extremely low water activity levels<sup>68-70</sup>. It cannot replicate under these conditions, but it can survive in a dormant state, and under the right circumstances it can be revived<sup>69</sup>. The second is that *Salmonella* is highly infectious. Unlike most bacterial pathogens it can initiate infection with doses potentially as low as a single cell<sup>71</sup>.

In addition to these biological aspects, there is some sleight historical evidence for concern. In 1981 there was a *Salmonella* outbreak in four states that was traced to contaminated marijuana<sup>72,73</sup>. More recently, metagenomic sequencing data has detected small levels of *Salmonella* associated with the Cannabis root system (Jack Gilbert, unpublished data). The *Salmonella* identified in this way was a miniscule proportion of the total microbial load, it was not in the flowers or leaves, and this data has not yet been replicated. And the 1981 outbreak was very likely a result of extremely low-quality, high-moisture material simply serving as a vector to deliver *Salmonella* into people's homes. Nonetheless, both of these reports are cause for concern, simply because of the extraordinarily high infectiousness of *Salmonella*, and the general severity of *Salmonella*-induced disease, especially in the immunocompromised or elderly.

Salmonella is not uncommon in the environment, and can be found as a contaminant of both soil and water<sup>74-77</sup>. It is a potentially quite dangerous pathogen, it could be found on Cannabis, and it would survive the curing process. Were even small amounts to avoid a heatkill step in a systematic way, they could cause an outbreak. For instance, it is possible that *Salmonella* could be transferred to Cannabis-infused edibles after inadequate heating for decarboxylation. Most smoked Cannabis should not pose a threat, however, it is still a common practice to smoke Cannabis cigarettes. This brings unheated plant material in close proximity to the mouth, and could lead to

#### infection.

All of these scenarios are unlikely, but they can't be dismissed. Properly handled material is very unlikely to pose a threat from *Salmonella*, and we believe state regulators should use their own judgment about whether it makes sense to incur the costs associated with *Salmonella* testing on Cannabis. Nonetheless, until further evidence argues otherwise, we recommend that Cannabis be tested for *Salmonella*.

## Thermophilic actinomycetes

Actinomycetes are a very large group of bacteria, containing many thousands of species. Some of these are capable of forming branching hyphal structures that can grow into biofilms resembling fungal mycelia<sup>78</sup>. Thermophilic ones are capable of growing at high temperatures and are dominant in composting plant material<sup>79,80</sup>. They were found on Cannabis in a report from  $1983^{81}$ , and although not mentioned again in this context since then, they made it onto the initial list of required tests for Cannabis in Colorado in 2013. This paper actually found three species thought to be in this category: Thermoactinomyces vulgaris, Thermoactinomyces candidus, and Micropolyspora faeni. T. Candidus was later identified as being the same species as T. vulgaris<sup>82</sup>. M. faeni was later reclassified twice, ultimately becoming known as Saccharopolyspora rectivirgula<sup>83</sup>. T.vulgaris and S. rectivirgula (along with Aspergillus species) are common causes of the allergic reaction known variously as farmer's lung, hypersensitivity pneumonitis, or extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAE)<sup>84,85</sup>.

We are not aware of any data which indicates whether these bacteria (or their antigens) can survive the temperatures of burning or vaporization and still cause allergic reactions. But there is no correlation in the literature between smoking cannabis and EAE. Neither is there any known correlation between these allergic reactions and tobacco smoking – although such reactions have been noted among workers in the tobacco processing industry who are exposed to spores directly<sup>86</sup>.

Thermophilic actinomycetes are ubiquitous in soil. They can multiply to very high levels in composting plant material, and chronic direct exposure at these levels can occasionally cause these allergic hypersensitivity reactions. However, the fact that these species grew on agar plates exposed to Cannabis (as with *Penicillium* and *Mucor*) is primarily an indication of the particular nutrient characteristics of the plates that were used in this 1983 study. If anything, what is notable is that so few species grew on these plates, when today we understand that many thousands of different species are present on any plant or soil sample<sup>87-90</sup>.

Actinomycetes are ubiquitous, and yet unlikely to be numerous on properly dried Cannabis. They are not human pathogens, nor are they likely to cause allergic hypersensitivity reactions upon smoking or ingesting. There is no need to test for them on Cannabis.

#### Pseudomonas

*Pseudomonas* is a large genus of gram-negative bacteria with an extremely wide range of metabolic capabilities and an accordingly wide range of habitats<sup>91,92</sup>. Pseudomonas has been detected on Commercially grown medical Cannabis (Darryl Hudson, personal communication) and there has been some level of concern about this because of the potential for pathogenic *Pseudomonas* to cause infection in immunocompromised individuals<sup>93-95</sup>. However, there is only one common human pathogen in the Pseudomonas genus, and it is not likely to be dangerous even if it was found on Cannabis.

Three species of *Pseuodomonas* are potentially relevant in the cultivation of Cannabis. The first is *P. syringae*, a common plant pathogen that is not pathogenic to humans. Although this species is capable of harming crops, it is is not a safety concern. The second is *P. fluorescens*, which is a "biocontrol" organism with the ability to promote plant growth through an unknown mechanism. This species is commercially available, and may be found on Cannabis plants to which it was deliberately added. Such biocontrols are generally a positive way of handling horticultural problems, especially in comparison to chemical pesticides. *P. fluorescens* is not a danger to humans.

The third relevant species is *P. aeruginosa*. This is the human pathogen in the genus, and it is one of the most common causes of hospital-acquired bacterial infection<sup>96-98</sup>. It is generally not able to infect healthy individuals, but it can cause infections in the immunocompromised or those with chronic pulmonary diseases such as cystic fibrosis<sup>93,99-103</sup>. It has an extremely broad range of potential

habitats, and is essentially ubiquitous in the environment<sup>104-107</sup>. It is found in water, soil, on many plants, and can colonize many different types of surface<sup>104,108-111</sup>. It is responsible for water-born infections of the ear<sup>112-114</sup>, eye infections related to contact lenses<sup>115-117</sup>, and many different types of internal infections subsequent to wounds or other injuries<sup>118,119</sup>.

As with several other human pathogens, *P. aeruginosa* is potentially dangerous, but it is also an organism that we are generally in constant contact with. Infection only takes place when an inoculum is high, immunological protection is low, and a specific route of delivery to a susceptible site in the body is provided<sup>120-122</sup>. Cannabis does not provide a delivery method that will allow it to initiate infections. The oral dose required to initiate infection is extremely large<sup>104,123</sup>. The inhalation dose is thought to be lower<sup>124</sup>., but *P. aeruginosa* is highly sensitive to both dessication and heat<sup>125-129</sup>. As with the majority of bacterial species, it will not survive the drying process that occurs when Cannabis is cured, and it will not survive the heat of smoking or decarboxylation treatment.

## **Fungal pathogens**

Mold, mildew and yeast are all types of fungi. Mold in particular is very common on agricultural products. Certain types can grow on live plants; others, termed saprophytes, generally grow on dead plant material. Cannabis is host to many mold species of both types. The molds that are common on living Cannabis, such as *Botrytis cinerea*, are plant pathogens, not human ones<sup>130</sup>. Non-pathogenic molds can be a source of allergic hypersensitivity reactions<sup>131-133</sup>, but there is no evidence associating such reactions with smoking. As discussed above, a number of pathogenic mold species have been isolated from Cannabis kept under extremely poor conditions<sup>11,81</sup>. Spores of these species are ubiquitous, and Cannabis presents no special risk for fungal infections caused by them. However, certain molds of the genus *Aspergillus* do present a risk.

## Aspergillus

*Aspergillus* is a mold that produces extremely hardy spores, and is capable of replication at much lower water activity levels than most organisms<sup>134-136</sup>. It is also ubiquitous; *Aspergillus* spores are thought

to exist in soil and on plants essentially everywhere<sup>137-139</sup>. Gardeners and farmers in particular are believed to breathe in thousands of spores every day<sup>140-142</sup>. Under normal conditions, the human immune system removes these from the lungs<sup>143-146</sup>. In the immunocompromised, however, certain *Aspergillus* species can cause invasive lung disease<sup>147-156</sup>. Invasive pulmonary aspergillosis is extremely hard to diagnose and to treat, and the mortality rate is quite high<sup>157-162</sup>. In addition, there is a known clinical association between Cannabis smoking and pulmonary aspergillosis. Cannabis smoking is considered a clear risk factor for this disease, and there are many cases on record<sup>163-170</sup>. It appears likely that the spores can survive the heat of smoking and are mobilized by the smoking process and transferred to the lungs. In the absence of a healthy immune system, the spores can germinate and colonize the lungs.

This is particularly significant in the case of the modern medical marijuana industry. Pulmonary aspergillosis is the one serious documented microbiological safety threat to Cannabis smokers. It usually takes hold only in the immunocompromised, but many medical marijuana patients have diseases – such as cancer or HIV infection – that result in damaged immune systems. In addition there is thought to be a dose effect<sup>171,172</sup>. Plant material that was improperly dried or handled and has higher mold levels could potentially present a higher risk.

Aspergillus is ubiquitous, but the majority of Aspergillus species are not pathogenic. There are hundreds of species in this genus, and most of them are harmless. The species thought to be responsible for the vast majority of cases of human aspergillosis are these: *A. fumigatus, A. flavus, A. terreus, A. niger,* and potentially *A. nidulans*<sup>147,162,173,174</sup>. *A. fumigatus* alone is likely responsible for about 75% of *Aspergillus* infections in the U.S<sup>175</sup>.

All four of these species should be tested for. Samples that test positive for any of them should be returned to the producer. Returned samples cannot easily be sterilized because of the hardiness of fungal spores, and they should not be sold. However, they can reasonably be used for concentrate production destined for edibles.

Cannabis users should know the risks involved in smoking a substance that can contain viable *Aspergillus* spores. Those who are immunocompromised should be counseled to avoid smoking in general. Edible cannabis products are now widely available and will be safer for this population, as *Aspergillus* spores generally do not cause disease when ingested orally.

It is important for legislators to understand that no data is available on the environmental burden of *Aspergillus* on Cannabis. When this data becomes available it may turn out that pathogenic *Aspergillus* species are quite rare on Cannabis. The opposite is more likely, however. It may be the case that *A. fumigatus*, in particular, is so common that all Cannabis samples (at least outdoor-grown varieties) contain some level of it. If this is the case, it will NOT make sense to require that all Cannabis be tested for *Aspergillus*. Healthy people have extremely high innate immunity to *Aspergillus*<sup>176</sup>, and there is no advantage in testing for ubiquitous organisms.

However, choosing not to test for this pathogen could only be done in parallel with a concerted public health education campaign to alert immunocompromised patients to the danger of Cannabis-mediated Aspergillosis. There may also be some middle ground in which it would be reasonable to identify a threshold below which some *A. fumigatus* is acceptable if samples are clearly labeled with testing results. Nonetheless, given the information that is now available, we strongly recommend that all Cannabis be tested for *A. fumigatus*, *A. flavus*, *A. terreus*, *and A. niger*, and failed if positive for any of these.

#### Penicillium

Penicillium is a genus of fungal mold species, and it has been isolated from Cannabis plants. It is ubiquitous on plants and in soil, and it is fast-growing and extremely likely to predominate on the agar culture plates used for fungal culture in the 1980s. Although one *Penicillium* variety is an opportunistic pathogen of immunocompromised HIV patients in Southeast Asia<sup>177,178</sup>, except in very rare cases<sup>179,180</sup> the genus is otherwise not a cause of human disease.

## Mucor

This is a large genus of fungi containing over 3000 separate species<sup>181,182</sup>. As with *Penicillium*, they are ubiquitous, fast-growing, and very easy to recover on culture plates<sup>183,184</sup>. A very small number of these can cause human disease. This disease, known as mucormycosis, is extremely rare, and typically presents in non-immunocompromised patients only in cases where the spores are introduced to the body through "traumatic inoculation"<sup>185-187</sup>.

Pulmonary forms of mucormycosis are know to occur, but usually only in patients with underlying hematological malignancy<sup>188-191</sup>, and these are not associated with increased inhalation exposure.

#### Botrytis cinerea

This is one of the most common fungal plant pathogens. It infects many different crops, but is particularly an issue with wine grapes<sup>192-</sup><sup>195</sup> (where it is on occasion a positive influence) and Cannabis (where it is not). It does not infect humans, and although allergic hypersensitivity reactions to it have been described, they are only two reports of it in the existing scientific literature<sup>196,197</sup>.

# **Microbial toxins**

## Aflatoxins

Aflatoxins are a variety of mycotoxin produced mainly by two species of *Aspergillus (A. flavus,* and *A. parasiticus)*<sup>198,199</sup>. Because *Aspergillus* is ubiquitous, aflatoxins are as well, and many industries have set baseline levels for acceptable amounts of aflatoxin contamination<sup>200-</sup><sup>203</sup>. However, the conditions necessary for the production of significant levels of aflatoxin are not present on Cannabis.

In order for aflatoxin production to occur, Aspergillus must initiate a successful colonization of some substrate that supports hyphae production and robust replication<sup>204</sup>. *Aspergillus* is a saprophyte, meaning it commonly grows on dead and decomposing plant matter<sup>205-</sup> <sup>207</sup>. It can also grow on living plants, but it requires high levels of oils and other nutrients for robust growth and aflatoxin production<sup>208-210</sup>. The agricultural crops capable of fulfilling these conditions are high-oilcontent seeds, and certain grains and nuts<sup>208</sup>. Aspergillus replication on Cannabis would be possible only on extremely moldy post-harvest plant material, or on the seeds themselves. Because Cannabis flowers sold in dispensaries today are produced entirely from un-fertilized female plants that do not produce seeds, this is not a concern. In addition, even with permissive nutrient sources, aflatoxin production is halted at low water activity levels<sup>211-213</sup>. This is the case as water activity approaches A<sub>w</sub> 0.9. Cured Cannabis is much dryer than this, typically under  $A_w$  0.6.

Data do exist that could be interpreted to indicate a risk posed by aflatoxins on Cannabis. For instance, Aspergillus flavus is extremely widespread in soil, and some plants that cannot support *Aspergillus* growth are still capable of aflatoxin uptake from the environment<sup>214</sup>. There is no evidence that this is likely to lead to aflatoxin levels above established international exposure thresholds, and there is no evidence that it takes place in Cannabis. Another possible concern is that the heat applied to Cannabis during smoking or decarboxylation would not remove all aflatoxins. The aflatoxin molecule is somewhat heat-labile; it is degraded by exposure to heat levels above 160°C<sup>215,216</sup>. But decarboxylation and smoking temperatures are not always this high, and though they would lead to some degradation of aflatoxin, it would not be complete. Finally, Cannabis seeds have high oil content, and they would not be an unusual host for *Aspergillus*. There is a reasonable concern that Aflatoxins may be present in hemp seed products. It is also true that the hermaphroditic tendency of the Cannabis plant sometimes leads to the occasional seed in commercially sold Cannabis flowers, and these could potentially be colonized be Aspergillus.

Taken together, these concerns do not warrant batch testing of all commercial Cannabis for aflatoxins. The presence of detectable levels is highly unlikely, and after many decades of popular use, aflatoxin poisoning has never been linked to Cannabis use. Aflatoxins have been mentioned as a concern with respect to Cannabis, because aflatoxins do contaminate many other food products, and because Aspergillus itself is clearly a concern. But in this case it is invasive fungal disease that is a threat, rather than aflatoxin poisoning. Only one paper in the existing literature describes the isolation of aflatoxin from Cannabis<sup>217</sup>. In this study, the authors themselves added large amounts of Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus to Cannabis confiscated by police. They mixed the Cannabis with the *Aspergillus* in large amounts of water, and assessed aflatoxin production 14 days later. They then reported levels of aflatoxin production that were extremely low compared to other growth substrates. It is worth pointing out that cannabinoids have been found to have strong antifungal properties<sup>20,218</sup>, and that the Cannabis used in this 1977 paper had a THC content of 1.5%.

#### Botulinum toxin

*Clostridium botulinum* is a spore-forming bacteria that produces an

extremely dangerous toxin<sup>219</sup>. The possibility of poisoning by botulinum toxin has been raised with regard to the production of Cannabis-infused edible products, and the Denver Department of Public Health has posted warnings on this subject. The reason for this concern is that several cases of botulinum poisoning in this country have been associated with oils infused with garlic, vegetables, or herbs<sup>220-223</sup>, and many Cannabis products are made by first producing Cannabis-infused oil or butter.

*C. botulinum* is an anaerobic organism, and will only survive in environments where oxygen is absent<sup>224</sup>. For this reason, most cases of botulinum poisoning have been associated with infused-oil products, or with mishandled canned products. In both cases, spores found naturally in the environment or on agricultural products are delivered to an anaerobic environment where they can germinate, grow, and produce toxin. Moreover, *C. botulinum* can tolerate an extremely wide range of temperatures. Its spores are highly heat-resistant, and it can also grow, albeit slowly, at refrigeration temperatures. Many normal cooking processes do not kill the spores, but heating to 121°C for three minutes will do so<sup>225-227</sup>. The toxin itself is heat-labile, and can be destroyed by heating to just 85C for 5 minutes<sup>228,229</sup>.

Most importantly, *C. botulinum* requires water activity of A<sub>w</sub> 0.94 or higher for growth<sup>230,231</sup>. It cannot multiply on dry material. The reason why infused oils have been able to support growth is because adding fresh garlic or herbs or vegetables to oil creates a local region of very high water activity, in the center of an anaerobic environment. Botulinum poisoning has not been associated with dried herbal products, or oils infused with dried herbs. *C. botulinum* spores probably exist in many places, but they only replicate to the level needed to produce toxin under very particular conditions. The key to avoiding botulinum poisoning is to avoid adding products with high water activity to anaerobic media or to sealed containers. In the cases where this happens, such as with canning, there needs to be a "botulinum cook" step of heating to 121°C for three minutes, and/or products need to be kept refrigerated and discarded after several weeks<sup>224,232</sup>.

Foods infused with Cannabis extracts made from cured Cannabis do not present a risk for botulinum poisoning. Most Cannabis foods now use use concentrates from hydrocarbon or CO2 extraction processes rather than oil or butter infusion. Those that do use infused oils are not at greater risk, assuming the plant material is properly dried. Once a food product is made, it can always be contaminated with any organism. But *C. botulinum* will not replicate on a product with low or medium water activity. As with any and all food products, anything that has high water activity should be refrigerated, and discarded after several weeks. In the cases where oil or butter are made with raw Cannabis, these should be treated with special care. If the goal is to avoid decarboxylation, then the "botulinum cook" step is not feasible. Such products can still be safe, provided they are refrigerated and consumed soon after preparation.

## Indicator tests

The discussion in the previous sections concerns identification of organisms that might act as human pathogens. However, a standard practice in microbiology safety testing in the food industry is the use of "indicator tests"<sup>3</sup>. These are tests for organisms that are not themselves pathogenic, but can still provide useful information<sup>2-4</sup>. In some cases, they can indicate a higher likelihood of the presence of pathogens, perhaps leading towards more focused testing. In other cases, indicator tests serve as "quality tests" and provide indirect information about the cleanliness of the production process.

Most testing for pathogens in the food-safety industry does not target end products. Testing programs are typically present in order to evaluate production processes and facilities. Even when limits are specified for specific organisms in an end product, this is still understood to be a way of evaluating the process itself, and is not applied to every single batch of a product. This is especially true of indicator tests; they were not designed to be applied to final batches of a product. Their value lies in the general information they can provide about production practices, rather than about the safety of any particular batch of product. Modern food safety practices rely on HACCP (Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point) programs as a means of ensuring safe production environments. Microbial testing is used to develop data to guide HACCP programs, and in some cases to verify implementation<sup>233,234</sup>.

Nonetheless, states with legal Cannabis programs are committed to a higher level of regulatory safety controls than are applied to other products. This includes end-point testing for pathogens that may be present; it may be reasonable to include indicator tests as well, if they can provide actionable information. It is critical, however, to avoid the mistake of requiring an entire industry to perform uninformative tests on every single batch of its products.

#### Bacterial indicator tests

The tests required for Cannabis products in Washington State included a series of bacterial indicator tests of increasing specificity.

These were:

Total aerobic bacteria Bile-resistant gram-negative bacteria Total coliforms

Total aerobic plate counts are a very common indicator test; they are a quality test, and frequently have results that correspond to millions or tens of millions of bacterial cells on the sample. They are thought provide some general sense of the cleanliness of production or processing. Bile-resistant gram-negative bacteria is a category that was in use many decades ago and is no longer used in food-safety testing. The purpose of this category was to define a group of bacteria that would include the majority of gut-borne pathogens. Several other indicator categories have since gained favor for the purpose of showing the potential for fecal contamination. These include Enterobacteriaceae, total coliforms, fecal coliforms, thermotolerant coliforms, and generic *E. coli*. The majority of these tests have fallen out of favor, as they do not accurately represent the threat of fecal contamination<sup>5,6</sup>. Many of them include species that are harmless and that can arise from other sources. The test most commonly recommended now as an accurate proxy for fecal contamination is general *E. Coli*<sup>235,236</sup>. This genus of bacteria is extremely common in the mammalian digestive system, and relatively rare elsewhere. Fecal contamination during the production of Cannabis could arise with workers washing their hands incompletely, or from contaminated soil or water. None of these cases would necessarily mean that the Cannabis was dangerous to use. However, it could indicate the possible presence of enteric pathogens, and it is likely to reflect a problem in the production process.

#### Fungal indicator tests

Mold is the most common type of microbial growth on Cannabis. It is a constant source of practical and financial difficulty for Cannabis

growers, and most states that require Cannabis testing at this time include the classical microbiological test known as "total yeast and mold". These assays are plate or film-based culture assays that are intended as pan-fungal broad-spectrum indicator tests. The majority of the molds that grow on these plates will be common plant pathogens, and are highly unlikely to cause human disease. As with total bacterial tests, tests for "total yeast and mold" are essentially a quality test. They are unlikely to serve as a good indicator for the presence of pathogens. In fact, the typical plate assays used to assess total yeast and mold levels are able to support the growth of only a very tiny percentage of the fungal species common in the environment, and they show poor correlation with eachother<sup>237-240</sup>.

There are two rationales for requiring such a test for Cannabis. The first is that since mold is so common on Cannabis, and high levels are likely as a result of many different environmental and processing factors (harvest timing, seasonal rain levels, curing processes, cross-contamination, etc), it makes sense to include a total yeast and mold test as a general quality indicator. The other rationale is that -- even though such tests do not serve as indicators for the potential presence of pathogens – mold is a potential cause of irritation and allergic hypersensitivity reactions.

The broad spectrum of allergic reactions to inhaled antigens are usually grouped under the terms hypersensitivity pneumonitis or extrinsic allergic alveolitis. These are IgE-mediated inflammatory reactions to an extremely wide variety of antigens including inorganic molecules, avian proteins, bacterial endotoxins, and bacterial and fungal spores. Applying the total yeast and mold test to Cannabis, however, is extremely unlikely to minimize the number of allergic hypersensitivity reactions among Cannabis smokers.

There are many reasons for this. The most common causes of allergic hypersensitivity are bacterial or non-microbial, and therefore won't be detected on fungal culture plates<sup>241,242</sup>. The most common causes that *are* fungal are *Aspergillus* species<sup>243-245</sup>, for which total yeast and mold tests are not good quantitative assays, and which need to be tested for on Cannabis independently in any case. Botrytis is probably the most common mold on Cannabis plants, and although there are reports of hypersensitivity reactions to it, these are rare, and usually involve extremely high exposure levels<sup>197,246</sup>. In addition, among tobacco smokers there is no evidence of increased allergic reactions to microbial antigens<sup>81,247-249</sup>, which argues that such antigens are either degraded by smoking, or not mobilized by it. Combined with the fact

that "total yeast and mold" tests can culture only a small percentage of fungal species, all the above evidence argues against using such a test to prevent hypersensitivity reactions.

This test could still be used as a general quality indicator. Extremely high levels of mold on Cannabis flowers are generally considered an indication of poor curing or handling practices. However, relatively high levels are present on most Cannabis. Some states have chosen  $10^4$  CFU/gram as the total yeast and mold cutoff for Cannabis. This is a value that causes many apparently acceptable samples to fail.  $10^5$ CFU/gram may be a more reasonable cutoff, though this is a level at which mold is typically visible by eye (and certainly by microscopy). To our thinking, it is difficult to justify the resource and pricing impacts imposed by a test of this nature, when the benefits are unclear, the appropriate cutoff is unknown, and visual inspection is a viable alternative.

#### Recommendations

In comparison to most agricultural products, Cannabis is exceptionally safe. Nonetheless, the authors of this white paper are in agreement that Cannabis can pose a microbiological safety hazard if the proper regulatory controls are not in place. Primarily this is because it is a very large industry, and also because of the particular risk for aspergillosis associated with inhalation.

Several safeguards are inherently present in the processing and use stages for most Cannabis products, and these can be monitored using straightforward methods. Other safety measures can be implemented by proper testing procedures. These include statistical sampling techniques, tests for relevant microorganisms, and proper assay design and validation. Recommendations for each of these safety measures are outlined below. If they are followed, Cannabis will be a much safer product (at least from a microbiological perspective) than any of the produce we buy in the grocery store.

**1. Water activity can be used as a marker for overall microbial levels.** Plant material with high water activity will support microbial growth. Because the drying step is one piece of insurance against microbial dangers associated with Cannabis, it makes sense to require that this step be complete. The majority of commercially sold Cannabis is dried to water activity levels that are below the minimum threshold

for any type of microbial replication. Samples that are above this minimum level (0.6  $A_W$ ) are at slightly higher risk. However, very few bacterial or fungal species can replicate between  $A_W$  0.6  $A_W$  0.7. Above  $A_W$  0.7, microbial growth begins to be more possible. We recommend that all curing processes aim to produce flower material that is under Aw 0.6, and that flower material above  $A_W$  0.65 be returned to producers for further curing.

3. Fresh Cannabis will require a different set of microbiological **quidelines.** There has been a rise in the popularity of preparations of Cannabis that are either not dried or not heated, or both. Ingesting raw Cannabis is analogous to ingesting lettuce - it is high water activity and consumed without heating. It's not accurate to say that eating raw plants is dangerous. If Americans did so more often, we'd be much healthier. Nonetheless, it increases the small chance of certain types of microbial infection. In the context of large distribution pipelines for commercial agricultural products, there is an elevated risk for certain bacterial infections that is not present with dried or cooked foods. Products made from Cannabis that is cured but not heated will occupy a middle ground. If they are also subjected to hydrocarbon or CO<sub>2</sub> extraction, they will be quite safe. However, products made from fresh raw Cannabis for commercial purposes should be subject to increased microbiological surveillance for Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Clostridium botulinum, and toxigenic E. coli.

**3. Edible Cannabis products should be regulated by local health departments.** Cannabis food products should not be subject to end-product testing for microbiological contamination. The commercial facilities making these products should follow modern HAACP guidelines and be inspected and regulated by local and state health departments just as all other commercial food production facilities are.

There are many reasons for this recommendation. Food products always pose some risk for the spread of food-born illness, and the knowledge about how to mitigate these risks is now quite advanced in this country. It therefore makes sense to follow the best-practices guidelines that already exist for the food industry. These are extensive, and they are based on continuous monitoring of production processes and environments themselves, rather than end products.

Cannabis food products are as likely to become contaminated as any other processed or prepared commercial food product. But because of its unique attributes, *Cannabis is the least likely component to be the source of contamination in any food product*. Cannabis is present in foods as an extract of the plant material. This plant material is dried to a safe level before extraction. And then either during or after extraction it is usually subject to a decarboxylation process that serves as a heat-kill step. The vast majority of the extraction processes are themselves sterilizing. Once these extracts are added to food, the food can always be mishandled or subject to "temperature abuse", which raises the chances of contamination. But these are factors facing all foods, and the only pathogen of real concern on Cannabis (*Aspergillus*) is not infectious by the oral route. Cannabis food products should be regulated as all food products are, which means that the facility must prepare and follow an adequate HAACP safety plan, and the local or state health department must be vigilant about inspections and standards.

The Denver Department of Public Health (DDPH) serves as an excellent model for how to carry out this approach. The regulators from the DDPH have been rigorous about monitoring the supply chain of Cannabis-infused edibles in Denver. They have treated the legalization of these products there as simply an increase in the number of small and medium-sized commercial kitchens within its jurisdiction, and they have held all of them to strict standards. In the cases where food products were prepared in jurisdictions not subject to adequate public health oversight, the DDPH did not allow these products to be sold within Denver city limits.

**4.** Cannabis should be tested for four species of Aspergillus: A. *flavus, A. fumigatus, A. niger, and A. terreus.* Together these species are responsible for the vast majority of cases of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis, and they are the only pathogens that represent a clear and certain danger on Cannabis.

**5.** Cannabis should be tested for total generic *E. Coli.* Samples with levels above 100 CFU/gram should be rejected. This is the one indicator test that we recommend. Detection of significant levels of E.Coli are strong evidence of problems during growing or processing, including contaminated soil or wate, or improper handling. E. Coli is now accepted to be the optimal indicator organism for the identification of possible fecal contamination. Were pathogenic bacteria such as E.Coli or *Salmonella* to be present, they would likely have arrive through this type of pathway, therefore samples positive for

E.Coli are both higher risk and indicative of general production problems that need to be addressed.

E. Coli is usually not pathogenic, and many food-safety protocols do not require it to be entirely absent. A general guideline for E. Coli testing, and one which fits well with existing Cannabis testing data, is that no product should have over 100 CFU/gram (or equivalent) of generic E. Coli.

6. Cannabis should be tested for Salmonella. Samples with detectable Salmonella should be rejected. The odds of Salmonella infection from Cannabis are very low. Nonetheless, it is the one bacterial pathogen that poses a potential threat to Cannabis smokers. There is precedent for Salmonella association with Cannabis in both this early epidemic, and in very recent microbial sequencing data. It is highly infectious and can cause disease with as low a dose as one single cell. It is hardy and highly resistant to dessication. And it has a mortality rate that is significant, and significantly higher in older or immunocompromised patients that are likely to be exposed through the use of medical Cannabis.

All Cannabis flower material should be tested for *Salmonella*, with close attention paid to the statistical sampling methods discussed below. Batches with any detectable *Salmonella* should be failed.

7. There is no need to test *Cannabis for Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Listeria,* toxigenic *E. Coli* (e.g., H7:0157), or other bacterial pathogens besides *Salmonella*. Cannabis is not a potential delivery vehicle for these organisms, or for most bacterial pathogens. Because it is both dried and heated before use, it has undergone two highly effective sterilization steps, and none of these pathogens can survive both of these. All of them will die if exposed to the heat of smoking or decarboxylation, and all of them will generally be rendered noninfectious by the curing process.

This does not mean that mis-handled or improperly cured Cannabis could not be a vehicle for these organisms. As with any agricultural or food product, it can be a source of increased hazard if it is maintained at high water activity levels, if typical decontamination steps are not performed, or if it is consumed fresh. **8. There is no need to test Cannabis for "total yeast and mold".** Total yeast and mold tests detect only a small fraction of the fungal species in the environment, and do not correlate with the presence of pathogenic species. The only pathogenic mold species on Cannabis are types of *Aspergillus* that must be tested for separately in any case. Molds can potentially be a cause of allergic hypersensitivity reactions, but there is no evidence that these are mediated by smoking. Molds can also be a source of plant spoilage, but these processes can be monitored appropriately by testing for water activity levels, and by visual or microscopic inspection.

**9. There is no need to test Cannabis for aflatoxins.** These would be at least partly degraded by the heat of smoking or decarboxylation, if they were present. But seedless Cannabis plants are not capable of supporting aflatoxin production, because they lack the high oil content necessary for *A. flavus* replication.

**10. Statistical sampling procedures must be used for microbial testing.** It is common practice in many Cannabis testing labs to accept individual 1g flower samples from growers or dispensaries. This is a practice guaranteed to make test results highly misleading. Pathogens are not spread evenly on surfaces, but instead cluster in local colonies. THC testing faces a similar issue: levels can vary by as much as two-fold across different regions of an individual plant. Statistical sampling techniques performed by trained lab personnel will largely solve both of these problems.

The entire batch to be tested must be present, and multiple sample increments should be collected using a statistically random sampling procedure. These must be collected by laboratory personnel, not by employees of the grower or retailer. Batch sizes are defined differently from state to state, and even within a single state there are many situations that can lead to a variety of batch sizes. Microbiological testing is not meaningful if the fraction of the total volume sampled is not identical between tests. Therefore it is essential that testing procedures require a set quantity of Cannabis to be sampled *per pound*, regardless of the total batch size.

We recommend that 5g per pound be sampled from every batch of Cannabis, in 5 individual, randomly chosen one-gram increments. All of these sub-samples should be combined together for the entire batch (for instance, a 5lb batch would require 25g of total sample material). The combined sample must be thoroughly homogenized, and the appropriate volume removed for the performance of each assay.

Statistical sampling procedures are detailed in the protocols found in ISO 7002:1986 and ISO 4874:2000, and all laboratories should have published Standard Operating Procedures modeled after these. We further recommend that batch sizes be constrained to 5 or 6 pounds. Smaller batch sizes lead to testing prices that are overly burdensome to producers, whereas larger batch sizes lower the detection thresholds of certain assays.

**11. Cannabis extracts and concentrates require different types of microbial screening.** The process of extracting cannabinoids with hydrocarbon solvents (butane, hexane, etc.) is likely to be sterilizing. The same is true for both supercritical and subcritical CO<sub>2</sub>. More data is needed to prove that this is the case, but the temperatures and pressures involved make it likely. Alcohol extracts are sterilizing as well, if they are made with high-proof alcohol. This is not because of temperature or pressure, but because most microorganisms cannot survive in alcohol. The only real possible danger in all of these cases is that spores may survive the extraction process, in which case *Aspergillus* testing would be needed on such extracts if they were destined for smoking or vaporization, but not if they were intended for infusion into edible products.

Many concentration processes do not use solvents, but use water or mechanical force to remove and concentrate the cannabinoid-rich external trichomes on Cannabis flowers and leaves. These products are all essentially varieties of hashish, and in general they are low water activity. In some cases, however, they can have enough moisture content to be support fungal or bacterial growth. More data is needed on these products as well; until then they should be screened exactly as dry Cannabis flowers are screened.

#### **Summary of Recommendations**

1. Water activity can be used as a marker for overall microbial levels: Cannabis with water activity levels above  $A_w$  0.65 should be returned to producers.

2. Fresh Cannabis requires additional testing, which should include Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Clostridium botulinum, and toxigenic E. coli.

*3. Edible Cannabis products should be regulated by local health departments. They carry the same microbiological risks as any food product, and heated Cannabis extracts do not increase this risk..* 

4. Cannabis should be tested for four species of Aspergillus: Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus fumigatus, Aspergillus Niger, and Aspergillus terreus.

5. Cannabis should be tested for total generic E.Coli. Samples with levels above 100 CFU/gram should be rejected.

6. Cannabis should be tested for Salmonella: Samples with detectable Salmonella should be rejected.

7. There is no need to test cured Cannabis for Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Listeria, toxigenic E. Coli (e.g., H7:0157), or other bacterial pathogens besides Salmonella.

8. There is no need to test Cannabis for "total yeast and mold".

9. There is no need to test Cannabis for aflatoxins.

10. Statistical sampling procedures must be used for microbial testing. A total of at least 5 grams randomly distributed throughout each pound of flower material must be collected. These subsamples for the entire batch should then be combined, thoroughly homogenized, and the appropriate volume of this mixture utilized for each assay. Batch sizes should be 5-6 lbs.

11. Cannabis extracts made with hydrocarbon solvents, CO<sub>2</sub>, or alcohol should be tested for Aspergillus if they are intended for direct inhalation. They do not need microbial screening prior to use in edible products. Extracts made with water or without solvents should be screened for the same microbes as cured Cannabis flowers: four Aspergillus species, generic E. coli, and generic Salmonella.
## References

- 1. Upton, R., ElSohly, M. & Pharmacopoeia, A. H. Cannabis Inflorescence: Cannabis Spp. ; Standards of Identity, Analysis, and Quality Control. 61 (2013).
- 2. Broeke, ten, R. T. Proceedings: Hygiene indicator organisms. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* **41**, 371–372 (1975).
- 3. Tortorello, M. L. Indicator organisms for safety and quality-uses and methods for detection: minireview. *J AOAC Int* **86**, 1208–1217 (2003).
- 4. Mossel, D. A. & Van Netten, P. Microbiological reference values for foods: a European perspective. *J Assoc Off Anal Chem* **74**, 420–432 (1991).
- Noble, R. T., Moore, D. F., Leecaster, M. K., McGee, C. D. & Weisberg, S. B. Comparison of total coliform, fecal coliform, and enterococcus bacterial indicator response for ocean recreational water quality testing. *Water Res.* **37**, 1637–1643 (2003).
- 6. Odonkor, S. T. & Ampofo, J. K. Escherichia coli as an indicator of bacteriological quality of water: an overview. *Microbiology Research* **4**, e2 (2013).
- 7. McPartland, J. M. & Pruitt, P. L. Medical marijuana and its use by the immunocompromised. *Altern Ther Health Med* **3**, 39–45 (1997).
- 8. McPartland, J. M. Cannabis pathogens XII: lumper's row. *Mycotaxon* **54**, 273–280 (1995).
- 9. McPartland, J. M. A review of Cannabis diseases. *Journal of the International Hemp Association* (1996).
- 10. McPartland, J. M., Grotenhermen, F. & Russo, E. Contaminants and adulterants in herbal cannabis. (2001).
- 11. Kagen, S. L., Kurup, V. P., Sohnle, P. G. & Fink, J. N. Marijuana smoking and fungal sensitization. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **71**, 389–393 (1983).
- Ledward, D. A. Water activity: Theory and applications to food (IFT Basic Symposium Series). Edited by Louis B. Rockland and Larry R. Beuchat. 1987. 424 pp., bound, illustrated. Price: \$59.75 (US and Canada); \$71.50 (All other countries). (Prices subject to change without notice). *Meat Sci.* 21, 157–158 (1987).
- 13. Troller, J. A. Trends in research related to the influence of 'water activity' on microorganisms in food. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **302,** 305–313 (1991).
- 14. Grant, W. D. Life at low water activity. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc.*

Lond., B, Biol. Sci. **359**, 1249–66– discussion 1266–7 (2004).

- Appendino, G. *et al.* Antibacterial cannabinoids from Cannabis sativa: a structure-activity study. *J. Nat. Prod.* **71**, 1427–1430 (2008).
- 16. Van Klingeren, B. & Ham, Ten, M. Antibacterial activity of delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* **42**, 9–12 (1976).
- 17. RADOSEVIC, A., KUPINIC, M. & GRLIC, L. Antibiotic activity of various types of cannabis resin. *Nature* **195**, 1007–1009 (1962).
- RABINOVICH, A. S., AIZENMAN, B. I. & ZELEPUKHA, S. I. [Isolation and investigation of antibacterial properties of preparations from wild hemp (Cannabis ruderalis) growing in the Ukraine]. *Mikrobiol Zh* **21(2)**, 40–48 (1959).
- 19. KREJCI, Z. [Antibacterial action of Canabis indica]. *Lek List* **7**, 500–503 (1952).
- 20. Radwan, M. M. *et al.* Biologically active cannabinoids from highpotency Cannabis sativa. *J. Nat. Prod.* **72**, 906–911 (2009).
- 21. McPartland, J. M. Cannabis as repellent and pesticide. *J Int Hemp Assoc* (1997).
- 22. Dussy, F. E., Hamberg, C., Luginbühl, M., Schwerzmann, T. & Briellmann, T. A. Isolation of Delta9-THCA-A from hemp and analytical aspects concerning the determination of Delta9-THC in cannabis products. *Forensic Sci. Int.* **149**, 3–10 (2005).
- Yamauchi, T., Shoyama, Y., Aramaki, H., Azuma, T. & Nishioka, I. Tetrahydrocannabinolic acid, a genuine substance of tetrahydrocannabinol. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **15**, 1075–1076 (1967).
- 24. Kimura, M. & Okamoto, K. Distribution of tetrahydrocannabinolic acid in fresh wild cannabis. *Experientia* **26**, 819–820 (1970).
- 25. Verhoeckx, K. C. M. *et al.* Unheated Cannabis sativa extracts and its major compound THC-acid have potential immunomodulating properties not mediated by CB1 and CB2 receptor coupled pathways. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **6**, 656–665 (2006).
- 26. Siegman-Igra, Y. *et al.* Listeria monocytogenes infection in Israel and review of cases worldwide. *Emerging Infect. Dis.* **8**, 305–310 (2002).
- 27. Ramaswamy, V. *et al.* Listeria--review of epidemiology and pathogenesis. *J Microbiol Immunol Infect* **40**, 4–13 (2007).
- Sant'Ana, A. S., Barbosa, M. S., Destro, M. T., Landgraf, M. & Franco, B. D. G. M. Growth potential of Salmonella spp. and Listeria monocytogenes in nine types of ready-to-eat vegetables stored at variable temperature conditions during shelf-life. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **157**, 52–58 (2012).

- Liu, S., Graham, J. E., Bigelow, L., Morse, P. D. & Wilkinson, B. J. Identification of Listeria monocytogenes genes expressed in response to growth at low temperature. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 1697–1705 (2002).
- 30. Sergelidis, D. *et al.* Temperature distribution and prevalence of Listeria spp. in domestic, retail and industrial refrigerators in Greece. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **34**, 171–177 (1997).
- 31. Buchanan, R. L. & Klawitter, L. A. Effect of temperature history on the growth of Listeria monocytogenes Scott A at refrigeration temperatures. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **12**, 235–245 (1991).
- 32. Conner, D. E., Brackett, R. E. & Beuchat, L. R. Effect of temperature, sodium chloride, and pH on growth of Listeria monocytogenes in cabbage juice. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **52**, 59–63 (1986).
- 33. Valderrama, W. B. & Cutter, C. N. An ecological perspective of Listeria monocytogenes biofilms in food processing facilities. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* **53**, 801–817 (2013).
- 34. Arizcun, C., Vasseur, C. & Labadie, J. C. Effect of several decontamination procedures on Listeria monocytogenes growing in biofilms. *J. Food Prot.* **61**, 731–734 (1998).
- 35. Notermans, S., Dufrenne, J., Teunis, P. & Chackraborty, T. Studies on the risk assessment of Listeria monocytogenes. *J. Food Prot.* **61**, 244–248 (1998).
- 36. Liu, D. Listeria monocytogenes: comparative interpretation of mouse virulence assay. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **233**, 159–164 (2004).
- Roche, S. M. *et al.* Experimental validation of low virulence in field strains of Listeria monocytogenes. *Infect. Immun.* **71**, 3429–3436 (2003).
- 38. Hitchins, A. D. & Whiting, R. C. Food-borne Listeria monocytogenes risk assessment. *Food Addit Contam* **18**, 1108– 1117 (2001).
- 39. Elliot, E. L. & Kvenberg, J. E. Risk assessment used to evaluate the US position on Listeria monocytogenes in seafood. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **62**, 253–260 (2000).
- 40. Farber, J. M. & Losos, J. Z. Listeria monocytogenes: a foodborne pathogen. *CMAJ* **138**, 413–418 (1988).
- 41. Vázquez-Boland, J. A. *et al.* Listeria pathogenesis and molecular virulence determinants. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **14**, 584–640 (2001).
- 42. Čava-Řoda, R. M., Taboada, A., Palop, A., López-Gómez, A. & Marin-Iniesta, F. Heat resistance of Listeria monocytogenes in semi-skim milk supplemented with vanillin. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **157**, 314–318 (2012).

- 43. Li, M. *et al.* A predictive model for the inactivation of Listeria innocua in cooked poultry products during postpackage pasteurization. *J. Food Prot.* **74**, 1261–1267 (2011).
- 44. Huang, L. Numerical analysis of survival of Listeria monocytogenes during in-package pasteurization of frankfurters by hot water immersion. *J. Food Sci.* **72**, E285–92 (2007).
- 45. Hassani, M., Mañas, P., Pagán, R. & Condón, S. Effect of a previous heat shock on the thermal resistance of Listeria monocytogenes and Pseudomonas aeruginosa at different pHs. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **116**, 228–238 (2007).
- 46. Augustin, J.-C. & Czarnecka-Kwasiborski, A. Single-Cell Growth Probability of Listeria monocytogenes at Suboptimal Temperature, pH, and Water Activity. *Front Microbiol* **3**, 157 (2012).
- 47. Schvartzman, M. S., Belessi, C., Butler, F., Skandamis, P. N. & Jordan, K. N. Effect of pH and water activity on the growth limits of Listeria monocytogenes in a cheese matrix at two contamination levels. *J. Food Prot.* **74**, 1805–1813 (2011).
- 48. Leimbach, A., Hacker, J. & Dobrindt, U. E. coli as an all-rounder: the thin line between commensalism and pathogenicity. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* **358,** 3–32 (2013).
- 49. Kaper, J. B., Nataro, J. P. & Mobley, H. L. Pathogenic Escherichia coli. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **2**, 123–140 (2004).
- 50. Raji, M. A., Jiwa, S. F. H., Minga, M. U. & Gwakisa, P. S. Escherichia coli 0157: H7 reservoir, transmission, diagnosis and the African situation: a review. *East Afr Med J* **80**, 271–276 (2003).
- 51. Mathias, R. G. Outbreak of e. Coli 0157:h7 hemorrhagic colitis in british columbia: results of two studies. *Can Fam Physician* 33, 1269–1274 (1987).
- 52. Johnson, W. M. & Lior, H. Cytotoxic and cytotonic factors produced by Campylobacter jejuni, Campylobacter coli, and Campylobacter laridis. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **24**, 275–281 (1986).
- 53. González Garcia, E. A. Animal health and foodborne pathogens: enterohaemorrhagic O157:H7 strains and other pathogenic Escherichia coli virotypes (EPEC, ETEC, EIEC, EHEC). *Pol J Vet Sci* **5**, 103–115 (2002).
- 54. Etcheverría, A. I. *et al.* Occurrence of Shiga toxin-producing E. coli (STEC) on carcasses and retail beef cuts in the marketing chain of beef in Argentina. *Meat Sci.* **86**, 418–421 (2010).
- 55. Sekse, C. *et al.* An outbreak of Escherichia coli O103:H25 bacteriological investigations and genotyping of isolates from food. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **133**, 259–264 (2009).
- 56. Belongia, E. A. *et al.* An outbreak of Escherichia coli O157:H7

colitis associated with consumption of precooked meat patties. *J. Infect. Dis.* **164,** 338–343 (1991).

- 57. Söderström, A. *et al.* A large Escherichia coli O157 outbreak in Sweden associated with locally produced lettuce. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* **5**, 339–349 (2008).
- 58. Hilborn, E. D. *et al.* A multistate outbreak of Escherichia coli O157:H7 infections associated with consumption of mesclun lettuce. *Arch. Intern. Med.* **159**, 1758–1764 (1999).
- 59. Ackers, M. L. *et al.* An outbreak of Escherichia coli O157:H7 infections associated with leaf lettuce consumption. *J. Infect. Dis.* **177**, 1588–1593 (1998).
- 60. Feng, P. C. H. & Reddy, S. P. Prevalence and diversity of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli strains in fresh produce. *J. Food Prot.* **77**, 820–823 (2014).
- 61. Ross, T., Ratkowsky, D. A., Mellefont, L. A. & McMeekin, T. A. Modelling the effects of temperature, water activity, pH and lactic acid concentration on the growth rate of Escherichia coli. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **82,** 33–43 (2003).
- 62. Park, C. M. & Beuchat, L. R. Survival of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 in potato starch as affected by water activity, pH and temperature. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* **31**, 364–367 (2000).
- 63. Kaur, J., Ledward, D. A., Park, R. W. & Robson, R. L. Factors affecting the heat resistance of Escherichia coli O157:H7. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* **26**, 325–330 (1998).
- 64. Fookes, M. *et al.* Salmonella bongori provides insights into the evolution of the Salmonellae. *PLoS Pathog.* **7**, e1002191 (2011).
- 65. Lan, R., Reeves, P. R. & Octavia, S. Population structure, origins and evolution of major Salmonella enterica clones. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* **9**, 996–1005 (2009).
- 66. Humpheson, L., Adams, M. R., Anderson, W. A. & Cole, M. B. Biphasic thermal inactivation kinetics in Salmonella enteritidis PT4. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **64**, 459–464 (1998).
- 67. Dhir, V. K. & Dodd, C. E. Susceptibility of suspended and surface-attached Salmonella enteritidis to biocides and elevated temperatures. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **61**, 1731–1738 (1995).
- 68. Santillana Farakos, S. M., Schaffner, D. W. & Frank, J. F. Predicting survival of salmonella in low-water activity foods: an analysis of literature data. *J. Food Prot.* **77**, 1448–1461 (2014).
- 69. Eriksson de Rezende, C. L., Mallinson, E. T., Gupte, A. & Joseph, S. W. Salmonella spp. are affected by different levels of water activity in closed microcosms. *J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **26**, 222–225 (2001).
- 70. Opara, O. O. et al. Correlation of water activity and other

environmental conditions with repeated detection of Salmonella contamination on poultry farms. *Avian Dis.* **36**, 664–671 (1992).

- 71. Teunis, P. F. M. *et al.* Dose-response modeling of Salmonella using outbreak data. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **144,** 243–249 (2010).
- 72. Taylor, D. N. *et al.* Salmonellosis associated with marijuana: a multistate outbreak traced by plasmid fingerprinting. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **306**, 1249–1253 (1982).
- Centers for Disease Control (CDC). Salmonellosis traced to marijuana--Ohio, Michigan. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 30, 77–79 (1981).
- 74. Li, B. *et al.* Diversity and antimicrobial resistance of Salmonella enterica isolates from surface water in Southeastern United States. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **80**, 6355–6365 (2014).
- 75. Hamidi, A., Irsigler, H., Jaeger, D., Muschaller, A. & Fries, R. Quantification of water as a potential risk factor for crosscontamination with Salmonella, Campylobacter and Listeria in a poultry abattoir. *Br. Poult. Sci.* **55**, 585–591 (2014).
- 76. Sallach, J. B. *et al.* Concomitant uptake of antimicrobials and Salmonella in soil and into lettuce following wastewater irrigation. *Environ. Pollut.* (2014). doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2014.11.018
- 77. Holley, R. *et al.* Examination of Salmonella and Escherichia coli translocation from hog manure to forage, soil, and cattle grazed on the hog manure-treated pasture. *J. Environ. Qual.* **37**, 2083–2092 (2008).
- 78. Locci, R. Response of developing branched bacteria to adverse environments. II. Micromorphological effects of lysozyme on some aerobic actinomycetes. *Zentralbl Bakteriol A* **247**, 374–382 (1980).
- 79. Van den Bogart, H. G., Van den Ende, G., Van Loon, P. C. & Van Griensven, L. J. Mushroom worker's lung: serologic reactions to thermophilic actinomycetes present in the air of compost tunnels. *Mycopathologia* **122**, 21–28 (1993).
- 80. Makawi, A. A. The effect of thermophilic actinomycetes isolated from compost and animal manure on some strains of Salmonella and Shigella. *Zentralbl Bakteriol Naturwiss* **135**, 12–21 (1980).
- Kurup, V. P., Resnick, A., Kagen, S. L., Cohen, S. H. & Fink, J.
   N. Allergenic fungi and actinomycetes in smoking materials and their health implications. *Mycopathologia* 82, 61–64 (1983).
- 82. Yoon, J. H., Shin, Y. K. & Park, Y. H. DNA-DNA relatedness among Thermoactinomyces species: Thermoactinomyces candidus as a synonym of Thermoactinomyces vulgaris and

Thermoactinomyces thalpophilus as a synonym of Thermoactinomyces sacchari. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* **50 Pt 5**, 1905–1908 (2000).

- 83. Duchaine, C., Mériaux, A., Brochu, G., Bernard, K. & Cormier, Y. Saccharopolyspora rectivirgula from Quebec dairy barns: application of simplified criteria for the identification of an agent responsible for farmer's lung disease. *J. Med. Microbiol.* **48**, 173–180 (1999).
- 84. Reijula, K. E. Two bacteria causing farmer's lung: fine structure of Thermoactinomyces vulgaris and Saccharopolyspora rectivirgula. *Mycopathologia* **121**, 143–147 (1993).
- 85. Mäntyjärvi, R. M. & Kurup, V. P. Dot-immunobinding assay in the detection of IgG antibodies against farmer's lung antigens. *Mycopathologia* **103**, 49–54 (1988).
- 86. Huuskonen, M. S. *et al.* Extrinsic allergic alveolitis in the tobacco industry. *Br J Ind Med* **41**, 77–83 (1984).
- 87. Delmont, T. O. *et al.* Accessing the soil metagenome for studies of microbial diversity. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **77**, 1315–1324 (2011).
- Tamames, J., Abellán, J. J., Pignatelli, M., Camacho, A. & Moya,
   A. Environmental distribution of prokaryotic taxa. *BMC Microbiol.* **10**, 85 (2010).
- 89. Valenzuela-Encinas, C. *et al.* Phylogenetic analysis of the archaeal community in an alkaline-saline soil of the former lake Texcoco (Mexico). *Extremophiles* **12**, 247–254 (2008).
- 90. Podar, M. *et al.* Targeted access to the genomes of lowabundance organisms in complex microbial communities. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **73**, 3205–3214 (2007).
- 91. Palleroni, N. J. Prokaryote taxonomy of the 20th century and the impact of studies on the genus Pseudomonas: a personal view. *Microbiology (Reading, Engl.)* **149,** 1–7 (2003).
- 92. Silby, M. W., Winstanley, C., Godfrey, S. A. C., Levy, S. B. & Jackson, R. W. Pseudomonas genomes: diverse and adaptable. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* **35**, 652–680 (2011).
- Lang, A. B., Horn, M. P., Imboden, M. A. & Zuercher, A. W. Prophylaxis and therapy of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in cystic fibrosis and immunocompromised patients. *Vaccine* 22 Suppl 1, S44–8 (2004).
- 94. Fergie, J. E., Patrick, C. C. & Lott, L. Pseudomonas aeruginosa cellulitis and ecthyma gangrenosum in immunocompromised children. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* **10**, 496–500 (1991).
- 95. Stephenson, J. R., Heard, S. R., Richards, M. A. & Tabaqchali, S. Gastrointestinal colonization and septicaemia with Pseudomonas aeruginosa due to contaminated thymol mouthwash in

immunocompromised patients. *J. Hosp. Infect.* **6**, 369–378 (1985).

- 96. Nathwani, D., Raman, G., Sulham, K., Gavaghan, M. & Menon, V. Clinical and economic consequences of hospital-acquired resistant and multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Antimicrob Resist Infect Control* **3**, 32 (2014).
- 97. Akhtar, N. Hospital acquired infections in a medical intensive care unit. *J Coll Physicians Surg Pak* **20**, 386–390 (2010).
- 98. Zaidi, A. K. M. *et al.* Hospital-acquired neonatal infections in developing countries. *Lancet* **365**, 1175–1188 (2005).
- 99. Driscoll, J. A., Brody, S. L. & Kollef, M. H. The epidemiology, pathogenesis and treatment of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections. *Drugs* **67**, 351–368 (2007).
- 100. Kipnis, E., Sawa, T. & Wiener-Kronish, J. Targeting mechanisms of Pseudomonas aeruginosa pathogenesis. *Med Mal Infect* **36**, 78–91 (2006).
- Young, L. S. The clinical challenge of infections due to Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 6 Suppl 3, S603–7 (1984).
- Sadikot, R. T., Blackwell, T. S., Christman, J. W. & Prince, A. S. Pathogen-host interactions in Pseudomonas aeruginosa pneumonia. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **171**, 1209–1223 (2005).
- 103. Schuster, M. G. & Norris, A. H. Community-acquired Pseudomonas aeruginosa pneumonia in patients with HIV infection. *AIDS* **8**, 1437–1441 (1994).
- 104. Mena, K. D. & Gerba, C. P. Risk assessment of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in water. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol* **201**, 71–115 (2009).
- Pirnay, J.-P. *et al.* Global Pseudomonas aeruginosa biodiversity as reflected in a Belgian river. *Environ. Microbiol.* 7, 969–980 (2005).
- Wolfgang, M. C. *et al.* Conservation of genome content and virulence determinants among clinical and environmental isolates of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **100**, 8484–8489 (2003).
- Hardalo, C. & Edberg, S. C. Pseudomonas aeruginosa: assessment of risk from drinking water. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.* 23, 47–75 (1997).
- 108. Du, H. *et al.* High density waves of the bacterium Pseudomonas aeruginosa in propagating swarms result in efficient colonization of surfaces. *Biophys. J.* **103**, 601–609 (2012).
- 109. Bernier, S. P., Ha, D.-G., Khan, W., Merritt, J. H. & O'Toole, G.

A. Modulation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa surface-associated group behaviors by individual amino acids through c-di-GMP signaling. *Res. Microbiol.* **162,** 680–688 (2011).

- Römling, U., Kader, A., Sriramulu, D. D., Simm, R. & Kronvall, G. Worldwide distribution of Pseudomonas aeruginosa clone C strains in the aquatic environment and cystic fibrosis patients. *Environ. Microbiol.* 7, 1029–1038 (2005).
- 111. Banning, N., Toze, S. & Mee, B. J. Persistence of biofilmassociated Escherichia coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa in groundwater and treated effluent in a laboratory model system. *Microbiology (Reading, Engl.)* **149,** 47–55 (2003).
- 112. Hajjartabar, M. Poor-quality water in swimming pools associated with a substantial risk of otitis externa due to Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Water Sci. Technol.* **50**, 63–67 (2004).
- 113. Sundström, J., Jacobson, K., Munck-Wikland, E. & Ringertz, S. Pseudomonas aeruginosa in otitis externa. A particular variety of the bacteria? *Arch. Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg.* **122**, 833–836 (1996).
- 114. Reid, T. M. & Porter, I. A. An outbreak of otitis externa in competitive swimmers due to Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *J Hyg* (*Lond*) **86**, 357–362 (1981).
- Willcox, M. D. P. Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection and inflammation during contact lens wear: a review. *Optom Vis Sci* 84, 273–278 (2007).
- 116. Fleiszig, S. M., Efron, N. & Pier, G. B. Extended contact lens wear enhances Pseudomonas aeruginosa adherence to human corneal epithelium. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **33**, 2908–2916 (1992).
- 117. Milauskas, A. T. Pseudomonas aeruginosa contamination of hydrophilic contact lenses and solutions. *Trans Am Acad Ophthalmol Otolaryngol* **76**, 511–516 (1972).
- 118. Møller-Kristensen, M. *et al.* Deficiency of mannose-binding lectin greatly increases susceptibility to postburn infection with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *J. Immunol.* **176**, 1769–1775 (2006).
- 119. Thuong, M. *et al.* Epidemiology of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and risk factors for carriage acquisition in an intensive care unit. *J. Hosp. Infect.* **53**, 274–282 (2003).
- Bayes, H. K., Bicknell, S., MacGregor, G. & Evans, T. J. T helper cell subsets specific for Pseudomonas aeruginosa in healthy individuals and patients with cystic fibrosis. *PLoS ONE* 9, e90263 (2014).
- 121. Agger, W. A. & Mardan, A. Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections of intact skin. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **20**, 302–308 (1995).
- 122. Cross, A. S. Evolving epidemiology of Pseudomonas aeruginosa

infections. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. 4, 156–159 (1985).

- 123. George, S. E., Walsh, D. B., Stead, A. G. & Claxton, L. D. Effect of ampicillin-induced alterations in murine intestinal microbiota on the survival and competition of environmentally released pseudomonads. *Fundam Appl Toxicol* **13**, 670–680 (1989).
- 124. George, S. E. *et al.* Distribution, clearance, and mortality of environmental pseudomonads in mice upon intranasal exposure. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **57**, 2420–2425 (1991).
- Oie, S. & Kamiya, A. Contamination and survival of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in hospital used sponges. *Microbios* **105**, 175–181 (2001).
- 126. Zechman, J. M. & Casida, L. E. Death of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in soil. *Can. J. Microbiol.* **28**, 788–794 (1982).
- 127. Brown, M. R. & Wood, S. M. Effects of drying on polymyxin sensitivity of pseudomonas aeruginosa. *J. Pharm. Pharmacol.* 23, 235S–236S (1971).
- 128. Hassani, M., Alvarez, I., Raso, J., Condón, S. & Pagán, R. Comparing predicting models for heat inactivation of Listeria monocytogenes and Pseudomonas aeruginosa at different pH. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **100**, 213–222 (2005).
- Magnusson, V., Jonsdottir, T., Gudmundsdottir, H., Erlendsdottir, H. & Gudmundsson, S. The in-vitro effect of temperature on MICs, bactericidal rates and postantibiotic effects in Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 35, 339– 343 (1995).
- 130. Choquer, M. *et al.* Botrytis cinereavirulence factors: new insights into a necrotrophic and polyphageous pathogen. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **277**, 1–10 (2007).
- 131. Hardin, B. D., Kelman, B. J. & Saxon, A. Adverse human health effects associated with molds in the indoor environment. *Journal of occupational and ...* (2003).
- 132. Mazur, L. J. & Kim, J. Spectrum of noninfectious health effects from molds. *Pediatrics* (2006).
- 133. JILLSON, O. F. & ADAMI, M. Allergic dermatitis produced by inhalant molds. *AMA archives of dermatology* (1955).
- 134. Holmquist, G. U., Walker, H. W. & Stahr, H. M. Influence of temperature, pH, water activity and antifungal agents on growth of Aspergillus flavus and A. parasiticus. *J. Food Sci.* (1983).
- 135. Parra, R. & Magan, N. Modelling the effect of temperature and water activity on growth of Aspergillus niger strains and applications for food spoilage moulds. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* (2004).
- 136. Pitt, J. I. & Miscamble, B. F. Water relations of Aspergillus flavus and closely related species. *J. Food Prot.* (1995).

- 137. Warris, A. & Verweij, P. E. Clinical implications of environmental sources for Aspergillus. *Med. Mycol.* (2005).
- 138. Guinea, J., Peláez, T., Alcalá, L. & Bouza, E. Outdoor environmental levels of Aspergillusspp. conidia over a wide geographical area. *Med. Mycol.* **44**, 349–356 (2006).
- 139. Nolard, N., Detandt, M. & Beguin, H. in *Aspergillus and Aspergillosis* 35–41 (Springer US, 1988). doi:10.1007/978-1-4899-3505-2\_4
- 140. Hořejší, M., Šach, J., Tomšíková, A., Mecl, A. & Blahníková, D. A syndrome resembling farmer's lung in workers inhaling spores of aspergillus and penicillia moulds. *Thorax* (1960).
- 141. Sandhu, D. K. & Sandhu, R. S. Survey of Aspergillus species associated with the human respiratory tract. *Mycopathologia et mycologia applicata* (1973).
- 142. Latgé, J.-P. Aspergillus fumigatus and Aspergillosis. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* (1999).
- 143. Park, S. J. & Mehrad, B. Innate immunity to Aspergillus species. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* (2009).
- 144. Bellocchio, S., Bozza, S. & Montagnoli, C. Immunity to Aspergillus fumigatus: the basis for immunotherapy and vaccination. *Medical ...* (2005).
- 145. Chaudhary, N., Staab, J. F. & Marr, K. A. Healthy human T-cell responses to Aspergillus fumigatus antigens. *PLoS ONE* (2010).
- 146. Schaffner, A., Douglas, H. & Braude, A. Selective protection against conidia by mononuclear and against mycelia by polymorphonuclear phagocytes in resistance to Aspergillus: observations on these two .... Journal of Clinical Investigation (1982).
- 147. Rüping, M. J. G. T. *et al.* Environmental and clinical epidemiology of Aspergillus terreus: data from a prospective surveillance study. *J. Hosp. Infect.* **78**, 226–230 (2011).
- 148. Pasqualotto, A. C. & Denning, D. W. An aspergilloma caused by Aspergillus flavus. *Med. Mycol.* **46**, 275–278 (2008).
- Schuster, E., Dunn-Coleman, N., Frisvad, J. C. & Van Dijck, P. W. M. On the safety of Aspergillus niger--a review. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 59, 426–435 (2002).
- 150. Tritz, D. M. & Woods, G. L. Fatal disseminated infection with Aspergillus terreus in immunocompromised hosts. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **16**, 118–122 (1993).
- Yamaguchi, M., Nishiya, H., Mano, K., Kunii, O. & Miyashita, H. Chronic necrotising pulmonary aspergillosis caused by Aspergillus niger in a mildly immunocompromised host. *Thorax* 47, 570–571 (1992).
- 152. Tracy, S. L., McGinnis, M. R., Peacock, J. E., Cohen, M. S. &

Walker, D. H. Disseminated infection by Aspergillus terreus. *Am. J. Clin. Pathol.* **80**, 728–733 (1983).

- 153. Mahgoub, E. S. & el-Hassan, A. M. Pulmonary aspergillosis caused by Aspergillus flavus. *Thorax* **27**, 33–37 (1972).
- 154. CLAYTON, Y. M. The occurrence of Aspergillus fumigatus in respiratory infections. *Proc. R. Soc. Med.* **51**, 501–502 (1958).
- 155. HOCHBERG, L. A., GRIFFIN, E. H. & BICUNAS, A. D. Segmental resection of the lung for aspergillosis. *Am. J. Surg.* **80**, 364–367 (1950).
- 156. COON, E. H., SMITH, H. B. & WALSH, J. C. Report of a case of Aspergillus fumigatus infection of the tracheobronchial tree. *Med Times* **74**, 225 (1946).
- 157. Thornton, C. R. Breaking the mould novel diagnostic and therapeutic strategies for invasive pulmonary aspergillosis in the immune deficient patient. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* **10**, 771–780 (2014).
- 158. Desoubeaux, G., Bailly, É. & Chandenier, J. Diagnosis of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis: updates and recommendations. *Med Mal Infect* **44**, 89–101 (2014).
- 159. Chen, J., Yang, Q., Huang, J. & Li, L. Clinical findings in 19 cases of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis with liver cirrhosis. *Multidiscip Respir Med* **9**, 1 (2014).
- 160. Georgiadou, S. P. & Kontoyiannis, D. P. Concurrent lung infections in patients with hematological malignancies and invasive pulmonary aspergillosis: how firm is the Aspergillus diagnosis? *J. Infect.* **65**, 262–268 (2012).
- 161. Hardak, E. *et al.* Impact of PCR-based diagnosis of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis on clinical outcome. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* **44**, 595–599 (2009).
- 162. Saugier-Veber, P. *et al.* Epidemiology and diagnosis of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis in bone marrow transplant patients: results of a 5 year retrospective study. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 12, 121–124 (1993).
- 163. Gargani, Y., Bishop, P. & Denning, D. W. Too many mouldy joints marijuana and chronic pulmonary aspergillosis. *Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis* **3**, e2011005 (2011).
- 164. Cescon, D. W. *et al.* Invasive pulmonary aspergillosis associated with marijuana use in a man with colorectal cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **26**, 2214–2215 (2008).
- Szyper-Kravitz, M., Lang, R., Manor, Y. & Lahav, M. Early invasive pulmonary aspergillosis in a leukemia patient linked to aspergillus contaminated marijuana smoking. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 42, 1433–1437 (2001).
- 166. Levitz, S. M. & Diamond, R. D. Aspergillosis and marijuana.

Ann. Intern. Med. 115, 578–579 (1991).

- 167. Hamadeh, R., Ardehali, A., Locksley, R. M. & York, M. K. Fatal aspergillosis associated with smoking contaminated marijuana, in a marrow transplant recipient. *Chest* **94**, 432–433 (1988).
- Sutton, S., Lum, B. L. & Torti, F. M. Possible risk of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis with marijuana use during chemotherapy for small cell lung cancer. *Drug Intell Clin Pharm* 20, 289–291 (1986).
- 169. Llamas, R., Hart, D. R. & Schneider, N. S. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis associated with smoking moldy marihuana. *Chest* **73**, 871–872 (1978).
- 170. Chusid, M. J., Gelfand, J. A., Nutter, C. & Fauci, A. S. Letter: Pulmonary aspergillosis, inhalation of contaminated marijuana smoke, chronic granulomatous disease. *Ann. Intern. Med.* **82**, 682–683 (1975).
- 171. Lass-Flörl, C. Aspergillus terreus: how inoculum size and host characteristics affect its virulence. *J. Infect. Dis.* **205**, 1192–1194 (2012).
- 172. Dixon, D. M., Polak, A. & Walsh, T. J. Fungus dose-dependent primary pulmonary aspergillosis in immunosuppressed mice. *Infect. Immun.* **57**, 1452–1456 (1989).
- 173. Krishnan, S., Manavathu, E. K. & Chandrasekar, P. H. Aspergillus flavus: an emerging non-fumigatus Aspergillus species of significance. *Mycoses* **52**, 206–222 (2009).
- Wald, A., Leisenring, W., van Burik, J. A. & Bowden, R. A. Epidemiology of Aspergillus infections in a large cohort of patients undergoing bone marrow transplantation. *J. Infect. Dis.* 175, 1459–1466 (1997).
- Steinbach, W. J. *et al.* Clinical epidemiology of 960 patients with invasive aspergillosis from the PATH Alliance registry. *J. Infect.* **65**, 453–464 (2012).
- 176. Balloy, V. & Chignard, M. The innate immune response to Aspergillus fumigatus. *Microbes Infect.* **11**, 919–927 (2009).
- Cooper, C. R. & Haycocks, N. G. Penicillium marneffei: an insurgent species among the penicillia. *J. Eukaryot. Microbiol.* 47, 24–28 (2000).
- 178. Cooper, C. R. & Vanittanakom, N. Insights into the pathogenicity of Penicillium marneffei. *Future Microbiol* **3**, 43–55 (2008).
- 179. Geltner, C., Lass-Flörl, C., Bonatti, H., Müller, L. & Stelzmüller,
  I. Invasive pulmonary mycosis due to Penicillium chrysogenum: a new invasive pathogen. *Transplantation* **95**, e21–3 (2013).
- 180. Oshikata, C. *et al.* Fatal pneumonia caused by Penicillium digitatum: a case report. *BMC Pulm Med* **13**, 16 (2013).

- Karimi, K. & Zamani, A. Mucor indicus: biology and industrial application perspectives: a review. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **31**, 466– 481 (2013).
- Hermet, A., Méheust, D., Mounier, J., Barbier, G. & Jany, J.-L. Molecular systematics in the genus Mucor with special regards to species encountered in cheese. *Fungal Biol* **116**, 692–705 (2012).
- Richardson, M. The ecology of the Zygomycetes and its impact on environmental exposure. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* **15 Suppl 5**, 2–9 (2009).
- 184. Lackner, A. *et al.* Fungi: a normal content of human nasal mucus. *Am J Rhinol* **19**, 125–129 (2005).
- 185. Austin, C. L., Finley, P. J., Mikkelson, D. R. & Tibbs, B. Mucormycosis: a rare fungal infection in tornado victims. *J Burn Care Res* **35**, e164–71 (2014).
- 186. Lewis, R. E. & Kontoyiannis, D. P. Epidemiology and treatment of mucormycosis. *Future Microbiol* **8**, 1163–1175 (2013).
- 187. Hay, R. J. Mucormycosis: an infectious complication of traumatic injury. *Lancet* **365**, 830–831 (2005).
- 188. Skiada, A. *et al.* Diagnosis and treatment of mucormycosis in patients with hematological malignancies: guidelines from the 3rd European Conference on Infections in Leukemia (ECIL 3). *Haematologica* **98**, 492–504 (2013).
- 189. Petrikkos, G. *et al.* Epidemiology and clinical manifestations of mucormycosis. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **54 Suppl 1,** S23–34 (2012).
- 190. Pak, J., Tucci, V. T., Vincent, A. L., Sandin, R. L. & Greene, J. N. Mucormycosis in immunochallenged patients. *J Emerg Trauma Shock* **1**, 106–113 (2008).
- 191. Ortín, X. *et al.* Cunninghamella bertholletiae infection (mucormycosis) in a patient with acute T-cell lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leuk. Lymphoma* **45**, 617–620 (2004).
- 192. Van Sluyter, S. C. *et al.* Aspartic acid protease from Botrytis cinerea removes haze-forming proteins during white winemaking. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **61**, 9705–9711 (2013).
- 193. Lorenzini, M., Azzolini, M., Tosi, E. & Zapparoli, G. Postharvest grape infection of Botrytis cinerea and its interactions with other moulds under withering conditions to produce noble-rotten grapes. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* **114**, 762–770 (2013).
- 194. Hong, Y.-S. *et al.* Metabolic influence of Botrytis cinerea infection in champagne base wine. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **59**, 7237–7245 (2011).
- 195. Kretschmer, M. *et al.* Fungicide-driven evolution and molecular basis of multidrug resistance in field populations of the grey mould fungus Botrytis cinerea. *PLoS Pathog.* **5**, e1000696

(2009).

- 196. Schwarz, H., Wettengel, R. & Kramer, B. Extrinsic allergic alveolitis in domestic environments (Domestic allergic alveolitis) caused by mouldy tapestry. *Eur. J. Med. Res.* **5**, 125 (2000).
- Popp, W., Ritschka, L., Zwick, H. & Rauscher, H. ["Berry sorter"s lung" or wine grower"s lung--an exogenous allergic alveolitis caused by Botrytis cinerea spores]. *Prax Klin Pneumol* 41, 165–169 (1987).
- Dorner, J. W., Cole, R. J. & Diener, U. L. The relationship of Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus with reference to production of aflatoxins and cyclopiazonic acid. *Mycopathologia* 87, 13–15 (1984).
- Koehler, P. E., Hanlin, R. T. & Beraha, L. Production of aflatoxins B1 and G1 by Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus isolated from market pecans. *Appl Microbiol* **30**, 581–583 (1975).
- van Egmond, H. P., Schothorst, R. C. & Jonker, M. A. Regulations relating to mycotoxins in food: perspectives in a global and European context. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **389**, 147–157 (2007).
- 201. Choe-Ngern, W. & Wanganurakkul, S. Determination of aflatoxins in dairy cattle feed and raw milk collected from milk collection centers in eastern Thailand during 2006-2009. *Journal of Mahanakorn ...* (2010).
- 202. Alfort, F. M. AFLATOXINS: IMPACT OF DIFFERENT HYPOTHETICAL LIMITS FOR ALMONDS, BRAZIL NUTS, HAZELNUTS, PISTACHIOS AND DRIED FIGS. *Safety evaluation* of certain food ... (2008).
- 203. Unnevehr, L. & Grace, D. Aflatoxins: Finding solutions for improved food safety. (2013).
- Garcia, D., Ramos, A. J., Sanchis, V. & Marín, S. Modeling kinetics of aflatoxin production by Aspergillus flavus in maizebased medium and maize grain. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 162, 182–189 (2013).
- 205. Amaike, S. & Keller, N. P. Aspergillus flavus. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* **49**, 107–133 (2011).
- 206. Tekaia, F. & Latgé, J.-P. Aspergillus fumigatus: saprophyte or pathogen? *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* **8**, 385–392 (2005).
- 207. Dean, R. A. & Timberlake, W. E. Production of cell walldegrading enzymes by Aspergillus nidulans: a model system for fungal pathogenesis of plants. *Plant Cell* **1**, 265–273 (1989).
- 208. Klich, M. A. Aspergillus flavus: the major producer of aflatoxin. *Mol. Plant Pathol.* **8**, 713–722 (2007).
- 209. Mellon, J. E., Cotty, P. J. & Dowd, M. K. Influence of lipids with

and without other cottonseed reserve materials on aflatoxin B(1) production by Aspergillus flavus. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **48**, 3611–3615 (2000).

- Hensarling, T. P., Jacks, T. J., Lee, L. S. & Ciegler, A. Production of aflatoxins on soybean and cottonseed meals. *Mycopathologia* 83, 125–127 (1983).
- 211. Zhang, F. *et al.* RNA-Seq-Based Transcriptome Analysis of Aflatoxigenic Aspergillus flavus in Response to Water Activity. *Toxins (Basel)* **6**, 3187–3207 (2014).
- 212. Abdel-Hadi, A., Schmidt-Heydt, M., Parra, R., Geisen, R. & Magan, N. A systems approach to model the relationship between aflatoxin gene cluster expression, environmental factors, growth and toxin production by Aspergillus flavus. *J R Soc Interface* **9**, 757–767 (2012).
- 213. Faraj, M. K., Smith, J. E. & Harran, G. Interaction of water activity and temperature on aflatoxin production by Aspergillus flavus and A. parasiticus in irradiated maize seeds. *Food Addit Contam* **8**, 731–736 (1991).
- 214. Hariprasad, P., Durivadivel, P., Snigdha, M. & Venkateswaran, G. Natural occurrence of aflatoxin in green leafy vegetables. *Food Chem* **138**, 1908–1913 (2013).
- 215. Kabak, B. The fate of mycotoxins during thermal food processing. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* **89**, 549–554 (2009).
- 216. Zhang, C., Ma, Y., Zhao, X., Zeng, Y. & Wang, F. Kinetic modelling of aflatoxins B1 conversion and validation in corn, rice, and peanut during thermal treatments. *Food Chem* (2011).
- 217. Llewellyn, G. C. & O'Rear, C. E. Examination of fungal growth and aflatoxin production on marihuana. *Mycopathologia* **62**, 109–112 (1977).
- Turner, C. E. & ElSohly, M. A. Biological activity of cannabichromene, its homologs and isomers. *J Clin Pharmacol* 21, 283S–291S (1981).
- Peck, M. W., Stringer, S. C. & Carter, A. T. Clostridium botulinum in the post-genomic era. *Food Microbiol.* 28, 183–191 (2011).
- 220. Viray, M. A. *et al.* Outbreak of type A foodborne botulism at a boarding school, Uganda, 2008. *Epidemiol. Infect.* **142**, 2297–2301 (2014).
- 221. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Type B botulism associated with roasted eggplant in oil--Italy, 1993. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* **44**, 33–36 (1995).
- 222. Morse, D. L., Pickard, L. K., Guzewich, J. J., Devine, B. D. & Shayegani, M. Garlic-in-oil associated botulism: episode leads to product modification. *Am J Public Health* **80**, 1372–1373

(1990).

- 223. St Louis, M. E. *et al.* Botulism from chopped garlic: delayed recognition of a major outbreak. *Ann. Intern. Med.* **108**, 363–368 (1988).
- 224. Lindström, M., Kiviniemi, K. & Korkeala, H. Hazard and control of group II (non-proteolytic) Clostridium botulinum in modern food processing. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **108**, 92–104 (2006).
- 225. Peleg, M. & Cole, M. B. Estimating the survival of Clostridium botulinum spores during heat treatments. *J. Food Prot.* **63**, 190–195 (2000).
- 226. Fernández, P. S. & Peck, M. W. A predictive model that describes the effect of prolonged heating at 70 to 90 degrees C and subsequent incubation at refrigeration temperatures on growth from spores and toxigenesis by nonproteolytic Clostridium botulinum in the presence of lysozyme. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **65**, 3449–3457 (1999).
- 227. Anderson, W. A., McClure, P. J., Baird-Parker, A. C. & Cole, M.
  B. The application of a log-logistic model to describe the thermal inactivation of Clostridium botulinum 213B at temperatures below 121.1 degrees C. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 80, 283–290 (1996).
- 228. Hubálek, Z. & Halouzka, J. Thermal sensitivity of Clostridium botulinum type C toxin. *Epidemiol. Infect.* **101,** 321–325 (1988).
- 229. Losikoff, M. E. Establishment of a heat inactivation curve for Clostridium botulinum 62A toxin in beef broth. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **36**, 386–388 (1978).
- Dodds, K. L. Combined effect of water activity and pH on inhibition of toxin production by Clostridium botulinum in cooked, vacuum-packed potatoes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 55, 656–660 (1989).
- Briozzo, J., de Lagarde, E. A., Chirife, J. & Parada, J. L. Effect of water activity and pH on growth and toxin production by Clostridium botulinum type G. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 51, 844–848 (1986).
- 232. Dahlsten, E., Lindström, M. & Korkeala, H. Mechanisms of food processing and storage-related stress tolerance in Clostridium botulinum. *Res. Microbiol.* (2014).
- Swanson, K. M. & Anderson, J. E. Industry perspectives on the use of microbial data for hazard analysis and critical control point validation and verification. *J. Food Prot.* 63, 815–818 (2000).
- 234. Kvenberg, J. E. & Schwalm, D. J. Use of microbial data for hazard analysis and critical control point verification--Food and Drug Administration perspective. *J. Food Prot.* **63**, 810–814

(2000).

- 235. Gruber, J. S., Ercumen, A. & Colford, J. M. Coliform bacteria as indicators of diarrheal risk in household drinking water: systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE* **9**, e107429 (2014).
- 236. Park, S. *et al.* Generic Escherichia coli contamination of spinach at the preharvest stage: effects of farm management and environmental factors. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **79**, 4347–4358 (2013).
- Rao, S., Hyde, K. D. & Pointing, S. B. Comparison of DNA and RNA, and cultivation approaches for the recovery of terrestrial and aquatic fungi from environmental samples. *Curr. Microbiol.* 66, 185–191 (2013).
- 238. Pringle, A. Asthma and the diversity of fungal spores in air. *PLoS Pathog.* **9**, e1003371 (2013).
- 239. Fröhlich-Nowoisky, J., Pickersgill, D. A., Després, V. R. & Pöschl, U. High diversity of fungi in air particulate matter. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 12814–12819 (2009).
- 240. Taniwaki, M. H., Silva, N., Banhe, A. A. & Iamanaka, B. T. Comparison of culture media, simplate, and petrifilm for enumeration of yeasts and molds in food. *J. Food Prot.* **64**, 1592–1596 (2001).
- 241. Ohshimo, S., Bonella, F., Guzman, J. & Costabel, U. Hypersensitivity pneumonitis. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am* 32, 537–556 (2012).
- 242. Selman, M., Lacasse, Y., Pardo, A. & Cormier, Y. Hypersensitivity pneumonitis caused by fungi. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* **7**, 229–236 (2010).
- 243. Singh, B., Singh, S., Asif, A. R., Oellerich, M. & Sharma, G. L. Allergic aspergillosis and the antigens of Aspergillus fumigatus. *Curr. Protein Pept. Sci.* **15**, 403–423 (2014).
- 244. Panjabi, C. & Shah, A. Allergic Aspergillus sinusitis and its association with allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis. *Asia Pac Allergy* **1**, 130–137 (2011).
- 245. Chaudhary, N. & Marr, K. A. Impact of Aspergillus fumigatus in allergic airway diseases. *Clin Transl Allergy* **1**, 4 (2011).
- Spieksma, F. T., Nolard, N., Beaumont, F. & Vooren, P. H. Concentrations of airborne Botrytis conidia, and frequency of allergic sensitization to Botrytis extract. *Experientia Suppl.* 51, 165–167 (1987).
- 247. Eriksson, J. *et al.* Cigarette smoking is associated with high prevalence of chronic rhinitis and low prevalence of allergic rhinitis in men. *Allergy* **68**, 347–354 (2013).
- 248. Polosa, R. et al. Cigarette smoking is associated with a greater

risk of incident asthma in allergic rhinitis. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **121,** 1428–1434 (2008).

249. Annesi-Maesano, I., Oryszczyn, M. P., Neukirch, F. & Kauffmann, F. Relationship of upper airway disease to tobacco smoking and allergic markers: a cohort study of men followed up for 5 years. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* **114**, 193–201 (1997).